Europaudvalget 2002-03 EUU Alm.del Bilag 86 Offentligt

Modtaget via elektronisk post. Der tages forbehold for evt. fejl

Europaudvalget (Alm. del - bilag 86) Det Europæiske Råd (Offentligt)

Medlemmerne af Folketingets Europaudvalg

og deres stedfortrædere

Bilag Journalnummer Kontor

1 400.C.2-0 EU-sekr. 11. oktober 2002

Til underretning for Folketingets Europaudvalg vedlægges i forbindelse med Det Europæiske Råd i Bruxelles den 24.-25. oktober 2002 Kommissionens fremskridtsrapport for Tyrkiet, KOM(2002) 700 endelig.

COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

×

2002

REGULAR REPORT

ON

TURKEY'S

PROGRESS TOWARDS ACCESSION

{COM(2002) 700 final}

2002

REGULAR REPORT

ON

Turkey's

PROGRESS TOWARDS ACCESSION

Table of contents

```
A. Introduction *
     a) Preface *
     b) Relations between the European Union and Turkey *
     Recent developments under the Association Agreement, including bilateral trade *
     Accession Partnership *
     National Programme for the Adoption of the Acquis *
     Community Assistance *
     Detailed legislative scrutiny *
     Twinning *
     B. Criteria for membership *
     1. Enhanced political dialogue and Political criteria *
     Introduction *
     Recent developments *
     1.1. Democracy and the rule of law *
     Parliament *
     The Executive *
     The Judicial System *
     Anti-corruption measures *
     The National Security Council *
```

1.2. Human rights and the protection of minorities *

```
Civil and political rights *
Economic, social and cultural rights *
Minority rights and the protection of minorities *
1.3. Cyprus *
1.4. Peaceful settlement of border disputes *
1.5. General Evaluation *
2. Economic criteria *
2.1. Introduction *
2.2. Summary of economic developments since 1997 *
2.3. Assessment in terms of the Copenhagen criteria *
The existence of a functioning market economy *
The capacity to cope with competitive pressure and market forces within the Union *
2.4. General evaluation *
3. Ability to assume the obligations of membership *
Introduction *
3.1. The chapters of the acquis *
           Chapter 1: Free movement of goods *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 2: Free movement of persons *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 3: Freedom to provide services *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 4: Free movement of capital *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 5: Company Law *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 6: Competition *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 7: Agriculture *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 8: Fisheries *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 9: Transport *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 10: Taxation *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 11: Economic and Monetary Union *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
            Chapter 12: Statistics *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 13: Social Policy and Employment *
```

```
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 14: Energy *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 15: Industrial policy *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 16: small and medium-sized enterprises *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 17: Science and Research *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 18: Education and Training *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 19: Telecommunications and information technology *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 20: Culture and Audio-Visual Policy *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 21: Regional Policy and co-ordination of structural instruments *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 22: Environment *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 23: Consumer Protection and Health *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 24: Co-operation in the field of justice and home affairs *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 25: Customs Union *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 26: External Relations *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 27: Common foreign and security policy *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 28: Financial control *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
           Chapter 29: Financial and budgetary provisions *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
3.2. General evaluation *
C. Conclusion *
```

D. Accession Partnership and National Programme for the Adoption of the Acquis: Global assessment *

1. Accession Partnership *

Short-term priorities *

Medium-term Priorities *

2. National Programme for the Adoption of the Acquis *

Annexes *

Human Rights Conventions ratified by the Candidate Countries, 15 September 2002

Statistical data *

Introduction

Preface

The European Council in Cardiff in June 1998 noted that the Commission would present a report on Turkey based on Article 28 of the Association Agreement and the conclusions of the Luxembourg European Council

The Commission presented its first Regular Report on Turkey in October 1998, together with the Regular Reports for the other candidate countries, with a view to the Vienna European Council; a second report was adopted in October 1999, with a view to the Helsinki European Council.

The Helsinki European Council concluded that "Turkey is a candidate State destined to join the Union on the basis of the same criteria as applied to the other candidate States. Building on the existing European Strategy, Turkey, like other candidate States, will benefit from a pre-accession strategy to stimulate and support its reforms."

As part of the pre-accession strategy, the Commission reports regularly to the European Council on progress made by each of the candidate countries in preparing for membership. The first fully-fledged Regular Report for Turkey was presented to the Nice European Council in December 2000. A second Regular Report was presented to the Laeken European Council in December 2001. The Commission has prepared this Regular Report with a view to the Brussels European Council in autumn 2002.

The structure followed for this Regular Report is largely the same as that used for the 2000 and 2001 Regular Reports. In line with previous Regular Reports, the present Report:

- · describes the relations between Turkey and the Union, in particular in the framework of the Association Agreement;
- analyses the situation in respect of the political criteria set by the 1993 Copenhagen European Council (democracy, rule of law, human rights, protection of minorities);
- assesses Turkey's situation and prospects in respect of the economic criteria defined by the Copenhagen European Council (a functioning market economy and the capacity to cope with competitive pressures and market forces within the Union);
- addresses the question of Turkey's capacity to assume the obligations of membership, that is, the acquis as expressed in the Treaties, the secondary legislation, and the policies of the Union. In this part, special attention is paid to nuclear safety standards, which were emphasised by the Cologne and Helsinki European Councils. This part includes not only the alignment of legislation, but also the development of the judicial and administrative capacity necessary to implement and enforce the acquis. The European Council stressed the importance of this latter aspect at its meeting in Madrid, in 1995 and on a number of subsequent occasions, most recently at Seville in June 2002. At Madrid, the European Council stressed that the candidate countries must adjust their administrative structures, so as to create the conditions for the harmonious integration of these States. The Seville European Council also stressed how important it was that candidate countries should continue to make progress with the implementation and effective application of the acquis, and added that candidate countries must take all necessary measures to bring their administrative and judicial capacity up to the required level.

This Report takes into consideration progress since the 2001 Regular Report. It covers the period until 15 September 2002. In some particular cases, however, measures taken after that date are mentioned. It looks at whether planned reforms referred to in the 2001 Regular Report have been carried out, and examines new initiatives. In addition, this Report provides a global assessment of the overall situation for each of the aspects under consideration, setting out for each of them the ma in steps still to be taken by Turkey in preparing for accession.

Furthermore, in view of the fact that the 2002 Regular Reports will provide the basis on which the Commission will formulate its recommendations as to which countries are ready to conclude negotiations, this Report includes an evaluation of Turkey's track record since the 1998 Regular Report. For the economic criteria the track record covers the period since 1997 and the report also provides a dynamic, forward-looking evaluation of Turkey's economic performance.

The Report further includes a separate section examining the extent to which Turkey has addressed the Accession Partnership priorities.

As has been the case in previous Reports, "progress" has been measured on the basis of decisions actually taken, legislation actually adopted, international conventions actually ratified (with due attention being given to implementation), and measures actually implemented. As a matter of principle, legislation or measures which are in various stages of either preparation or parliamentary approval have not been taken into account. This approach ensures equal treatment for all the candidate countries and permits an objective assessment of each country in terms of their concrete progress in preparing for accession.

The Report draws on numerous sources of information. The candidate countries have been invited to provide information on progress made in preparations for membership since the publication of the last Regular Report. The information each of the candidate countries has provided within the framework of the Association Agreement, the National Programmes for the Adoption of the Acquis where they are available, and various peer reviews that have taken place to assess candidate countries' administrative capacity in a number of areas, have served as additional sources. Council deliberations and European Parliament reports and resolutions have been taken into account in the preparations. The Commission has also drawn on assessments made by various international organisations, and in particular the contributions of the Council of Europe, the OSCE and the international financial institutions, as well as those of non-governmental organisations.

Relations between the European Union and Turkey

The European Council of Laeken of December 2001 concluded that: "Turkey has made progress towards complying with the political criteria established for accession, in particular through the recent amendment of its constitution. This has brought forward the prospect of the opening of accession negotiations with Turkey. Turkey is encouraged to continue its progress towards complying with both economic and political criteria, notably with regard to human right s. The pre-accession strategy for Turkey should mark a new stage in analysing its preparedness for alignment on the acquis."

The European Council of Seville in June 2002 "welcomed the reforms recently adopted in Turkey. It encourages and fully supports the efforts made by Turkey to fulfil the priorities defined in its Accession Partnership. The implementation of the required political and economic reforms will bring forward Turkey's prospects of accession in accordance with the same principles and criteria as are applied to the other candidate countries. New decisions could be taken in Copenhagen on the next stage of Turkey's candidature in the light of developments in the situation between the Seville and Copenhagen European Councils, on the basis of the regular report to be submitted by the Commission in October 2002 and in accordance with the Helsinki and Laeken conclusions."

In 2002, the emphasis has been on the implementation of the new phase of the pre-accession strategy for Turkey.

In summary, the following results under the pre-accession strategy can be mentioned for 2002:

- the continuation of an enhanced political dialogue under the Belgian, Spanish and Danish Presidencies with meetings of Political Directors in Brussels, Madrid and Copenhagen and political dialogue as part of the Association Council in April 2002. During these meetings, a number of key issues have been discussed such as the political reforms and human rights in Turkey, Cyprus, peaceful settlement of border disputes, European Security and Defence Policy (ESDP) as well as wider issues r egarding the situation in the Caucasus, the Middle East and in the Balkans.
- the start of a process of detailed legislative scrutiny in the first half of 2002 within the eight sub-committees of the Association Committee. This committee decided in January 2002 on the subjects, on which work should focus, including a schedule of meetings. The first series of meetings were completed in July 2002. This process allowed for a more detailed dialogue on the requirements for the transposition, implementation and enforcement of parts of the acquis. Differences in Tur kish legislation with the acquis in various sectors were identified. The sub-committees monitored the implementation by Turkey of the Accession Partnership priorities and discussed various trade issues. In July 2002, an extra meeting of the sub-committee dealing with Justice and Home Affairs took place to discuss the matter of illegal immigration. On that occasion, both sides agreed on a Common Action Programme on illegal migration to be adopted at the next meeting of the Association Committee.
- the adoption in December 2001 of a regulation on pre-accession financial assistance to Turkey. This new regulatory framework ensures an accession driven approach of the EC's financial co-operation with Turkey. As for all candidate countries, financial assistance has to focus on the priorities identified in the Accession Partnership.
- the commitment of €194 million in grant assistance to Turkey in 2001. EIB loans to Turkey in the same year totalled €375 million. (see below).
- the continuation of negotiations for the extension of the EC-Turkey Customs Union to services, and the mutual opening of public procurement markets. These negotiations took place in December 2001. The Customs Union currently covers trade in industrial goods and processed agricultural products.

The Association Committee met in Brussels in January 2002. The meeting was an opportunity to take stock of Turkey's compliance with the Copenhagen criteria, to discuss the pre-accession strategy for Turkey as well as the state of implementation of the Association Agreement. It laid the basis for the preparation of the Association Council meeting.

The Association Council was held in Luxembourg in April 2002. Among the issues discussed were Turkey's progress in meeting the Copenhagen political criteria in particular in the field of human rights and fundamental freedoms. Exchange of views took place on other important issues such as Cyprus, peaceful settlement of border disputes and the fight against terrorism. The pre-accession strategy was discussed as well as the state of bilateral relations in particular the implementation of the Customs Union.

Representatives of the Turkish government started to participate in technical committees in line with established policy for candidate countries.

The EP - Turkey Joint Parliamentary Committee met twice: in Istanbul in November 2001 and in Brussels in June 2002. A wide range of issues was discussed including EU-Turkey relations, human rights, Cyprus, ESDP, and the fight against terrorism. EC-Turkey financial co-operation was discussed in depth.

Two meetings of the Joint Consultation Committee under the Economic and Social Committee took place in November 2001 in Brussels and in July 2002 in Erzurum. The Customs Union Joint Committee met in Brussels in November 2001. A consultation mechanism on areas of relevance for the Customs Union has met on a regular basis. The Customs Co-operation Committee met in December 2001 and in September 2002.

A number of transitional arrangements under the Customs Union expired in December 2000. There is an urgent need for Turkey to remove technical barriers to trade, to adopt competition implementing rules, to strengthen the enforcement of intellectual property rights and to adjust state monopolies of a commercial character to ensure non-discrimination in market access between EC and Turkish operators.

In general, manufactured goods circulate freely within the Customs Union. A number of trade issues covering agricultural and industrial goods remain unresolved. Access for alcoholic beverages and second hand goods to the Turkish market are restricted. Turkey frequently does not meet its Customs Union commitments. Other products, such as pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, energy drinks, ceramics and spare parts for various reasons face difficulties entering the Turkish market. This is also the c ase for various agricultural products, inter alia due to delays in granting import licences and punitive import conditions.

A new anti-dumping investigation was initiated on imports of hot rolled coils from Turkey (among others) in December 2001. The investigation on imports of welded tubes and pipes (iron and non-alloy steel) led to the imposition of provisional duties in March 2002.

The business investment climate needs drastic improvement. The administrative procedures in place are lengthy and burdensome. Testing requirements for certain EC products are excessive and unnecessary since they duplicate tests already carried out elsewhere.

In the agriculture sector, the Commission has continued consultations with Turkey on a package to compensate the EC for Turkey's current ban on certain concessions, granted under an Association Council Decision, on imports of live bovine animals and beef from the Community. Turkey is ready to conduct negotiations with the EC as foreseen under the Customs Union Decision. A licensing system for the exports of Turkish dried fruits, including hazelnuts, to the EC was established in order to protect public health in the EU. The products contain unacceptably high levels of residues of contaminants.

In response to the protectionist measures taken by the US, which greatly restricted access to their market and created the risk of considerable trade diversion, the EU imposed provisional safeguard measures erga omnes on imports of certain steel products in March 2002. These measures were partly confirmed in September 2002.

Accession Partnership

The first year of the Accession Partnership - the time period for the fulfilment of the short-term priorities - expired at the end of March 2002. Its implementation is reviewed in part D of this Report.

National Programme for the Adoption of the Acquis

Turkey adopted its National Programme for the Adoption of the Acquis in March 2001. It is being implemented through the enactment of various pieces of legislation. No modifications have been made to the National Programme in 2002.

Community Assistance

A new regulation concerning pre-accession financial assistance for Turkey entered into force in December 2001. The purpose of this framework is to simplify procedures and to ensure an accession-driven approach to financial assistance to Turkey. The procedures for programming and implementing the pre-accession financial assistance programme now mirror those of Phare, i.e. a deconcentrated management system for financial assistance has been put into place with greater responsibilities for the Turkish Government. This new system has already lead to an upturn in the rate of tendering and contracting in 2002 compared with previous years. Over €200m of previously programmed assistance is expected to have been contracted by the end of 2002.

The regulation reiterates that during the current financial perspective the Commission's objective will be to maintain pre-accession financial assistance at a level double that enjoyed by Turkey in the period 1993-99.

Furthermore, following the decision to establish a decentralised implementation system in Turkey by the end of 2002, the government has begun to put in place the necessary structures which form an integral part of the system (National Aid Co-ordinator, Central Finance and Contract Unit, National Fund).

In 2002 the total national allocation for Turkey is epsilon149 million. Resources this year will be devoted to the following priority areas:

- Political criteria. Technical assistance and investment are being provided in the following areas: the development of modern questioning techniques for law enforcement agencies, and the fight against organised crime, drugs and fraud. A range of civil society development initiatives are also on-going addressing issues as diverse as pluralism and cultural diversity to women's health rights. Turkey is also a "focus country" under the European Initiative for Democracy an n Rights (EIDHR). This will allow Turkey to benefit from projects to promote the freedom of expression and independent media, good governance, improved access to justice, the prevention of torture and support for the rehabilitation of torture victims, as well as the fight against racism and discrimination. For the most part such projects will be implemented by civil society organisations.
- Economic criteria. Following the economic crisis in Turkey support is being provided in particular for SMEs.
- Meeting the obligations of the acquis. Technical assistance and investment are being provided in areas such as: justice and home affairs, internal market, agriculture, energy, telecommunications, employment and active labour market policy, health and safety at work, environment, competition and state aid, and maritime safety.
- Economic and social cohesion. This has been addressed extensively by on-going pre-2002 programmes. Two major projects have been developed for the south east. The promotion of employment in the region is a key element of these programmes. Feasibility studies have been financed for the development of cross-border programmes.

Participation in Community programmes and agencies has accelerated. A framework agreement between the European Community and the Republic of Turkey was ratified by the Turkish Parliament in June . It allows Turkey to participate in all programmes and agencies open to the candidate countries. At present Turkey participates in the European Environment Agency, the European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, IDA, Public Health, Combating Discrimination, Gender Equality, Combating Social Exclusion and Incentive Measures in Employment, and Customs 2007. Funding provided under the 2002 programme co-finances preparations for Turkish participation in Community programmes such as Customs 2002, the Multi-annual Programme for Enterprises and Entrepreneurship (SME), & Content, and the Leonardo, Socrates and Youth programmes are well advanced. Turkey has to set up a National Agency to manage its participation in the education programmes. Further steps need to be taken in order for the Agency to become fully operational.

Turkey now also benefits from the multi-country programme TAIEX. .

Turkey is also a major beneficiary of assistance from the EIB. It benefits from up to five different mandates and facilities: the EuroMed II Lending Mandate for Mediterranean countries, the Mediterranean Partnership Facility, the Special Action Mandate for Turkey, the Turkey Earthquake Reconstruction and Rehabilitation Assistance Facility and the Pre-Accession Facility. In total Turkey has received loan financing worth €1020 million from 1992 to 2000. In 2001, around €375m w y the EIB for four major investment projects.

Detailed legislative scrutiny

Subcommittees under the Association Committee have been carrying forward the detailed legislative scrutiny as part of the new stage in the pre-accession strategy for Turkey decided in Laeken. The Association Committee of January 2002 adopted a work programme and a list of subjects to be dealt with by each sub committee.

This process allows for a more detailed dialogue on the requirements for the transposition, implementation and enforcement of the acquis, focusing on precise sectoral issues. The process also included the examination of the capacity of the Turkish administration to implement the acquis effectively. The first round of meetings ended in July 2002. There has been an extra meeting of the subcommittee on justice and home affairs focusing on the issue of illegal migration.

Twinning

One of the main challenges still facing the candidate countries is the need to strengthen their administrative capacity to implement and enforce the acquis. As of 1998, the European Commission began to mobilise significant human and financial resources to help them with this process, using the mechanism of twinning administrations and agencies. The twinning process makes the vast body of Member States' expertise available to the candidate countries through the long-term secondment of civil servants and accompanying short-term expert missions and training.

A total of 503 twinning projects were funded by the Community between 1998 and 2001. Between 1998 and 2000 these projects primarily targeted the main priority sectors identified in the Accession Partnerships: agriculture, the environment, public finance, justice and home affairs and preparation for the management of Structural Funds. Since 2000, other important sectors of the *acquis* have also been addressed through twinning, such as social policy, the fight against drugs, transport and telecommunications regulation. Twinning now covers all areas pursuant to the acquis.

Turkey has not benefited from twinning to date. Two major information meetings on the twinning process have been held with the Turkish administration in 2001 and 2002. Up to 12 twinning projects are included in the 2002 programme for Turkey.

Criteria for membership

Enhanced political dialogue and Political criteria

Introduction

The political criteria for accession to be met by the candidate countries, as laid down by the Copenhagen European Council in June 1993, stipulate that these countries must have achieved "stability of institutions guaranteeing democracy, the rule of law, human rights and respect for and protection of minorities."

In its 1998 Regular Report on Turkey, the Commission concluded:

"On the political side, the evaluation highlights certain anomalies in the functioning of the public authorities, persistent human rights violations and major shortcomings in the treatment of minorities. The lack of civilian control of the army gives cause for concern. This is reflected by the major role played by the army in political life through the national security council. A civil, non-military solution must be found to the situation in south-east Turkey, particularly since many of the violations of civil and political rights observed in the country are connected in one way or another with this issue. The Commission acknowledges the Turkish government's commitment to combat human rights violations in the country but this has not so far had any significant effect in practice. The process of democratic reform on which Turkey embarked in 1995 must continue.

"In addition to resolving these problems, Turkey must make a constructive contribution to the settlement of all disputes with various neighbouring countries by peaceful means in accordance with international law."

In its 2001 Regular Report, the Commission found that:

- "The constitutional amendments adopted by the Turkish Parliament on 3 October 2001 are a significant step towards strengthening guarantees in the field of human rights and fundamental freedoms and limiting capital punishment. The amendments narrow the grounds for limiting such fundamental freedoms as the freedom of expression and dissemination of thought, freedom of the press and freedom of association. Attention has now turned to the effective implementation of these important changes. The Turkish Government is finalising a package of new draft legislation that is aimed at implementing a number of constitutional amendments, in particular with regard to freedom of expression and thought. It should facilitate progress towards satisfying the Accession Partnership priorities.
- " Despite these changes, a number of restrictions on the exercise of fundamental freedoms will depend on the details of implementing legislation, and the practical application of the law. It is encouraging that a general principle of proportionality has been introduced and that the stated general aim of the reform is effectively to bring to the forefront respect for human rights and the rule of law.
- "The moratorium on the death penalty has been maintained. The revised Article 38 of the Constitution limits the death penalty to cases of terrorist crimes and in times of war or imminent threat of war. The exception for terrorist crimes is not in line with Protocol 6 to the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) (which does not permit any reservations), whereas the exception of times of war and in cases of imminent threat of war is permitted under Protocol 6. Legislative changes to the Penal Code will be needed to put this revised Article into effect. This will permit an assessment of whether Turkey is in a position to sign and ratify Protocol N° 6 to the ECHR.

 "The reforms related to economic, social and cultural rights contain a number of positive elements. The provisions forbidding the use of languages prohibited by law, in Articles 26 and 28, have now been abolished. This could pave the way for the use
- of languages other than Turkish and is a positive development. Existing restrictive legislation and practices will need to be modified in order to implement this constitutional reform, as the Turkish authorities have recognised. There has been no improvement in the real enjoyment of cultural rights for all Turks, irrespective of their ethnic origin.
- " A number of substantial prison reforms have been adopted. Turkey is encouraged to ensure that these reforms are fully implemented. The disproportionate use of force in breaking up prison protests is to be regretted. The continuing loss of life as a result of hunger strikes is unacceptable from a humanitarian point of view. Irrespective of the political motives of those involved, efforts should be stepped up to prevent further deaths. Free debate on these issues should be all owed.
- "Reform of the judicial system has begun. The independence of the judiciary, the powers of State Security Courts and military courts and compliance with rulings of the European Court of Human Rights remain matters of concern.
- " A number of initiatives have been taken to increase the awareness of law enforcement officers and judicial personnel of human rights issues, but it is too early to assess the practical impact of these.
- "Despite several initiatives to foster more transparency in Turkey's public life, corruption remains a serious problem. The recent signature of important Council of Europe Conventions on corruption and on money laundering is a positive development.
- " Further action needs to be taken to improve the economic situation in the South East to reduce regional disparities and to enhance economic, social and cultural opportunities for all citizens. The state of emergency still applies to four provinces in this part of the country.
- "The basic features of a democratic system exist in Turkey, but a number of fundamental issues, such as civilian control over the military, remain to be effectively addressed.
- "Despite a number of constitutional, legislative and administrative changes, the actual human rights situation as it affects individuals in Turkey needs improvement.
- "Though it is beginning to make progress in some areas, Turkey does not yet meet the Copenhagen political criteria and is therefore encouraged to intensify and accelerate the process of reform to ensure that human rights and fundamental freedoms are fully protected in law and practice, for all citizens, throughout the country.
- " Fuller use should be made of the enhanced political dialogue, to further stimulate progress on key issues, which are priorities of the Accession Partnerships, such as human rights, Cyprus and the peaceful settlement of border disputes.
- " Given Ankara's support for the decision of Mr Denktash to withdraw from the UN proximity talks and to decline the UN Secretary General's invitation to talks in New York, the support Turkey has expressed in the political dialogue for the UNSG's efforts to find a comprehensive solution of the Cyprus problem should now be followed by concrete steps by Turkey to facilitate a solution."

The section below provides an assessment of developments in Turkey, seen from the perspective of the Copenhagen political criteria, including the overall functioning of the country's executive and its judicial system. Such developments are in many ways closely linked to developments regarding Turkey's ability to implement the acquis, in particular in the domain of justice and home affairs. Specific information on the development of Turkey's ability to implement the acq> in the field of justice and home affairs and home affairs and home affairs and home affairs. Specific information on the development of Turkey's ability to implement the acq> in the field of justice and home affairs and home affairs.

Recent developments

A major constitutional reform was adopted in October 2001 aimed at strengthening guarantees in the field of human rights and fundamental freedoms and limiting capital punishment. A new Civil Code was adopted in November 2001. Three sets of reform packages were adopted in February, March and August 2002.

The adoption of these reforms demonstrates the determination of the majority of Turkey's political leaders to move towards further alignment with the values and standards of the European Union. These reforms were adopted under difficult political and economic circumstances, and represent a major shift in the Turkish context. The building of political consensus around these changes was prepared by an intensive public debate concerning EU accession which took place in Turkey during the last year with the participation of political parties, civil society, business as well as academic circles.

The debate focused on the fulfilment of the Copenhagen political criteria, particularly the abolition of the death penalty, Radio/TV broadcasting and education in languages other than Turkish. Turkey's future in the EU was the subject of a meeting convened by President Sezer on 7 June 2002 with leaders of most political parties represented in Parliament. At the end of the meeting, a statement was issued confirming that EU membership was a common phierting for the political parties represented at the meeting.

that EU membership was a common objective for the political parties represented at the meeting.

The reform package adopted by Parliament in August 2002 was particularly far reaching. Among the amendments adopted are the lifting of the death penalty in peace time, the possibility for Radio and TV

The National Security Council recommended on 30 May 2002 that the state of emergency in two provinces of the Southeast be lifted. The Turkish Parliament endorsed this recommendation and this measure entered into force on 30 July 2002. The National Security Council also recommended the lifting of the state of emergency in the two remaining provinces by the end of the year.

Substantial economic reforms continued, supported by the IMF and the World Bank. This contributed to the stabilisation of the Turkish economy. The banking sector underwent restructuring while efforts continued to reform the energy, telecommunications and agriculture sectors. There was, however, no significant progress in privatisation.

In August 2002, Parliament decided to call early elections on 3 November 2002.

The Turkish government has declared its continued support for the efforts of the United Nations Secretary General to achieve a comprehensive settlement of the Cyprus problem.

In December 2001, direct talks between the leaders of the two communities in Cyprus started with the aim of reaching a comprehensive settlement.

Relations between Turkey and Greece have continued to improve. Exploratory contacts on the Aegean between the two foreign ministries started in March 2002. Several bilateral agreements have been ratified.

Despite progress, the issue of Turkey's participation in decisions on EU-led operations using NATO assets as part of the European Security and Defence Policy has remained unresolved.

The Constitutional Court continued its judicial proceedings against the HADEP party on the basis of alleged links with a terrorist organisation.

broadcasting in Kurdish, the widening of freedom of expression and greater freedom for non-Moslem religious minorities.

A number of students across the country petitioned for optional language classes in Kurdish to be taught in universities. While in some universities several petitions were accepted, in others they could not be submitted. The High Education Board (YÖK) issued injunctions to university rectors to impose disciplinary sanctions on the petitioners. Some students were subject to criminal proceedings by the State Security prosecutor in several cities. In a number of instances, the cases res ulted in acquittals.

Turkey organised the EU-OIC (Organisation of Islamic Conference) Forum on "Civilisations and Harmony, the Political Dimension" in Istanbul in February.

In June, Turkey took over the command of the Afghan peacekeeping Force (ISAF).

Democracy and the rule of law

Parliament

Parliament adopted some 45 new laws including the new Civil Code (1030 articles) and the three 'reform packages' implementing the 2001 constitutional amendments. Parliament also re-adopted without change two laws that had been vetoed earlier by the President, namely the law on conditional release of prisoners and the High Audio Visual Board (RTÜK) Law on broadcasting. The latter law was subsequently amended as part of the third reform pack t 2002.

Parliament made efforts to increase its efficiency by changing its internal regulation. In January 2002, a number of deputies appealed to the Constitutional Court against the new internal regulation. The Court ruled that the new regulation was partly unconstitutional. In the court's opinion the "Questions and Answers" period should not be limited to 10 minutes and members of Parliament should be allowed to ask questions on individual articles of draft laws and to submit more than 3 amendments to each article of a draft law.

Parliament adopted an amendment to Article 86 of the Constitution concerning salaries and pensions of Members of Parliament.

The Parliamentary Committee on Human Rights resumed its activities and has met 8 times since last October. The committee organised special visits to police stations, prisons, orphanages and NGOs in Antalya, Eskisehir, Kocaeli, Trabzon, Van and Siirt, and produced reports after each visit. Two additional sub-committees were established to investigate the issue of illegal telephone tapping and human rights violations during demonstrations in Istanbul.

Two deputies from the Fazilet ("Virtue") Party lost their seats in Parliament after the publication in the Official Gazette of the decision of the Constitutional Court to close their party on the grounds of anti-secular activities.

A new Parliamentary group was formed called "New Turkey" (YTP).

Discussions continued on the setting up of a Parliamentary Committee for EU Integration.

The Committee on Constitutional Affairs discussed a number of constitutional amendments mainly related to the powers of the executive.

The Executive

The current three-party coalition has been in office for more than three years. Differences regarding political and economic reform have emerged among the coalition partners. In July, the ruling coalition lost its majority in Parliament following the resignation by many MPs from the senior government party. Since then, there has been a minority government. Following the decision to hold early elections several ministers resigned and have been replaced. The President of the Republic exercised his right of veto with regard to several laws, notably the law on conditional release of prisoners, the State Security Courts Law, the law on restructuring of the financial sector debt and the amendments to the property tax law. In June 2002, the President appealed to the Constitutional Court against the law on broadcasting (RTÜK) and the law on conditional release, which following an earlier presidential veto had both been re-adopted by Parliament unchanged.

The President also vetoed the amendment to Article 86 of the Constitution concerning the increase of the wages and salaries of Members of Parliament, because this was considered inappropriate at a time of considerable economic difficulties.

In the field of public administration, efforts have been made to improve the quality of public management and staffing. A general regulation concerning the persons to be appointed to public offices was adopted in May 2002. This lays down the general principles and procedures for the selection of public officials. A new system of management has been put in place in the Ministry of Education.

In January 2002, the Government adopted an Action Plan on Enhancing Transparency and Good Governance in the Public Sector. This will have implications for the duties and responsibilities of both central and local administrations.

The General Secretariat for EU affairs (EUSG) has further consolidated its role co-ordinating the implementation of the NPAA and the pre-accession strategy. A translation co-ordination unit has been established. Organisational arrangements have been made to foster closer co-operation with other departments and agencies. Consultations between the EUSG and social partners, the private sector and non-governmental organisations have been reinforced. Thirteen working groups have been set up with representatives of civil society.

The EUSG has been involved in preparing the detailed legislative scrutiny of the acquis, within the framework of the eight sub-committees under the EC-Turkey Association Committee.

The role of civilian officials in local administration has been strengthened. As a result of the modification of Article 9 of the Law on the Organisation, Duties and Powers of the Gendarmerie, military officers are no longer entitled to act in provincial administrations as deputy for the Governor in the latter's absence. This change represents a significant step towards the demilitarisation of the provincial administration.

The Judicial System

The Turkish judicial system comprises a Constitutional Court, a Council of State, a Supreme Court, a Court of Jurisdictional Disputes and a general system of courts of first instance. There are also State Security Courts and Military courts. The Turkish court system is organised as a two tier system where the Supreme Court performs the function of High Court of Appeal.

Some changes have taken place in the judicial system.

The system of enforcement judges established in May 2001 is now in place, through the appointment of 140 judges in criminal courts across Turkey (see below on the reform of the prison system under Civil and political rights).

A new Civil Code was adopted by Parliament in November 2001 and entered into force in January 2002. It introduces changes in areas such as gender equality, freedom of association and child protection (see

The State Security Courts continue to function. Their operation has been modified following the adoption of a number of legislative amendments, notably to the Law on the Establishment and Prosecution Methods of State Security Courts and the Law on the Fight Against Criminal Organisations. As a result, offences relating to organised crime and fraud in the banking sector no longer fall under the competence of the State Security Courts.

The right of defence for detainees falling under the competence of the State Security Courts has been improved. The final paragraph of Article 16 of the Law on the Establishment and Prosecution Methods of State Security Courts has been abolished. This provision limited detainees' right of access to a lawyer and required the presence of a third person, normally a public official, at meetings between the detainee and his lawyer. Detainees prosecuted for collective offences falling under the jurisdiction of State Security Courts are now legally entitled to access to a lawyer, but only after 48 hours (see below under Civil and political right).

Despite these limitations to the jurisdiction of State Security Courts, the powers, responsibilities and functioning of these Courts still need to be brought in line with European standards.

The National Judicial Network Project has continued. The project, which is now in its second phase, aims to establish an information system between the courts and all other institutions of the Ministry, including prisons, with a view to accelerating court proceedings and ensuring uniformity and efficiency.

The judicial system is faced with a large backlog. There are currently 1,153,000 criminal cases and 548,000 civil cases pending. The average duration of judicial proceedings remains long: 406 days in general criminal courts and 241 days in general civil courts. The Ministry of Justice reports the average duration of proceedings to be longer at juvenile courts than in other courts (2000: 755 days). Furthermore, in certain cases, the duration is much longer than the average (see below on torture and mistreatment under Civil and political rights).

There has been no progress with regard to the establishment of intermediate courts of appeal. The Supreme Court has thus far performed the functions of a court of second instance. The establishment of a Court of Appeal would be an important step forward in ensuring the right to a fair trial, and increase the speed and efficiency of the judiciary.

One of the difficulties of the judicial system appears to be the inconsistent use, by public prosecutors, of a broad range of articles of the Penal Code, when applied to cases related to freedom of expression.

In spite of the amendments to the provisions on freedom of expression (Articles 159, 312 and Article 8 of the Anti terrorist law), there has been a certain tendency by prosecutors to use other provisions of the Penal Code, which were left unchanged by the harmonisation packages, to limit freedom of expression. This is particularly the case for Article 169 (support for illegal armed organisations) that was applied to students petitioning for optional language courses at university.

Day to day practice shows differences in the interpretation of the law in practical cases. As a result, there is a lack of clarity, transparency and legal certainty. There is evidence that in some cases the judge, invoking the same law provisions, decided to grant an acquittal while in other cases the opposite decision was taken. This in turn raises the question of the predictability of interpretation of the law.

The Supreme Court has started to apply the provisions of the reform packages, in particular in the field of freedom of expression and the fight against torture. In a number of cases, the Court has overruled judgements on the grounds that they were contrary to the newly introduced provisions.

On the other hand, the Supreme Court overruled a decision of the State Security Court in Diyarbakir which appeared to be based on the newly introduced provisions, in particular on the new version of Article 312 of the Penal Code. In this case, the Diyarbakir State Security Court decided to delete the criminal records of Tayyip Erdoğan, the leader of the AKP party, convicted under the old Article 312. The State Security Court r uled that the act for which he was convicted was no longer considered as a criminal offence under the new version of Article 312. This would have allowed Mr Erdoğan to participate in the elections of 3 November, but the Supreme Court ruling, followed by the subsequent decision of the High Electoral Board effectively prevented this.

As regards juvenile courts, two more courts were established in Diyarbakir and Istanbul, bringing the total to eight. Work is underway to establish juvenile courts in eight other provinces. The extension of these juvenile courts to all regions has been slower than planned. There has been no progress concerning the structure and the remit of juvenile courts. Their competence is limited to juveniles between 11 and 14 years. Consequently, juveniles between 15 and 18 are tried by ordinary courts. Where juvenile courts do not exist, juveniles are tried by ordinary courts.

No progress can be reported on establishing additional forensic medicine institutes.

There are continued reports that the judiciary does not always act in an independent and consistent manner.

As regards the application of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR), the Constitutional Court's ruling of 20 March 2002 is a positive development. In this ruling, the Court recognised that the ECHR is a source on which the Turkish courts can base decisions. This should help guarantee fair trial under Article 6 of the ECHR. However, the issue of the direct effect of the judgements of the European Court of Human Rights (EctHR) remains to be addressed.

As part of the third "reform package" adopted in August 2002 provisions have been added to the Turkish legal system to allow for retrial in the event of convictions, both in civil and criminal cases, that have been found contrary to the ECHR. The newly adopted measures have paved the way for reopening impugned proceedings. These new provisions will only apply to decisions taken pursuant to applications made to the ECtHR after August 2003.

Legal measures are also required to ensure the restoration of civil and political rights where those rights have been restricted in violation of the ECHR, and to ensure the clearing of criminal records (see also below on Human rights and protection of minorities).

Another area of concern remains the jurisdiction of military courts over civilians. In 2001, 176 cases involving 358 civilians were dealt with by military courts, mostly in relation to charges of fraud in avoiding military service or obstructing, intimidating and insulting soldiers on duty.

Training programmes have continued, covering such issues as fair trial, the fight against organised crime and the new Civil Code. Regional seminars were organised, in particular in the areas of prevention of torture and freedom of expression. Two thousand judges and prosecutors have been trained in forensic medicine law. Training through a joint programme of the European Commission and the Council of Europe on ECHR case law for the judiciary is to start in autumn 2002. The Ministry of Justice has planned seminars for judges and prosecutors starting in Ankara and other provinces for the autumn.

Anti-corruption measures

Surveys indicate that corruption remains a serious problem in Turkey. The high-level steering committee set up by the Government in 2001 has stimulated anti-corruption measures.

In January 2002, the Government adopted an Action Plan on Enhancing Transparency and Good Governance in the Public Sector. Whilst the plan has the wider objective of improving the performance of public services, it has implications for preventing corrupt practices by enhancing transparency. It envisages the adoption of a number of measures, such as a code of ethical conduct for civil servants and public administrators, strengthening the inspection and audit system, and stepping up the fig ht against money laundering.

It also provides for the setting up of specialised courts for corruption cases. Accountability and transparency in election campaign financing is to be improved, notably by amending the Political Parties Law, so as to oblige parties to disclose their sources of financing and setting upper limits to contributions. It is planned to amend the relevant legislation on compulsory declaration of resources (Declaration on Wealth, Bribery and Anti-Corruption) in order to increase public access to financial disclosure statements by public officials. The creation of a specialised judicial police force, under the supervision of the Chief State Prosecutor, has also been proposed.

In May 2002, the Government adopted a circular appointing five Ministers to implement the Action Plan. Several authorities are responsible for the measures foreseen under the Action Plan in the Public Sector.

In January 2002, Parliament adopted a new Law on Public Procurement with the aim of enhancing transparency and curbing corruption. The law was amended on a number of basic points in June 2002. A Public Procurement Authority has been established and its ten board members, including the president, were appointed in April 2002 (see also B.3 Chapter 1 Free movement of goods).

The Prime Ministry Inspection Board is responsible for establishing the general principles of inspection, as well as carrying out inspections and auditing any public or private organisation.

Turkey has still not ratified neither the Council of Europe Convention on Laundering, Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the Proceeds of Crime, nor the Council of Europe Civil Law and Criminal Law Conventions on Corruption signed on 27 September 2001. It is a party to the OECD Convention on Combating Bribery of foreign public officials in International Business Transactions, and participates in the monitoring of anti-corruption measures by the OECD Working Group on Bribery in internation al commercial transactions. Turkey is not a member of the Council of Europe Group of States against Corruption (GRECO).

Official data suggest a steady increase in the number of cases opened related to abuse of duty by civil servants (Article 209 of the Turkish Penal Code). The latest data indicate that 190 cases were opened and 161 cases (from previous years) were concluded. Of those charged, 84 were sentenced and imprisoned, 43 acquitted, and 1 case was dropped.

In relation to bribery, there were 855 cases opened in 2000 (a significant increase vis-à-vis previous years). Six hundred and fifteen cases were concluded. Three hundred and thirteen resulted in convictions including imprisonment, and 249 in acquittals. Eight cases were dropped.

According to official sources, 32 investigations were being conducted by Customs Protection Controllers.

Overall, a number of steps have been taken to prevent corruption and corrupt practices. The adoption of a strategy to enhance transparency and good governance is a welcome development, and due attention should now be given to its implementation.

The National Security Council

The constitutional amendment introducing changes to the composition and the role of the National Security Council has been put in practice. A draft law aimed at implementing this amendment is still pending before the Parliament. The number of civilians has increased from 5 to 9 compared with 5 military members.

The National Security Council (NSC) is formally an advisory body. In practice its opinions carry more weight than mere recommendations and its military members are particularly influential. The National Security Council holds monthly meetings. After each meeting conclusions are made public through a press release. The NSC has issued opinions and recommendations on a number of governmental issues and policies, including emergency rule in the Southeast, the fight against terrorism, political and economic reforms relating to Turkey's compliance with the EU accession criteria, and Cyprus.

On 30 May 2002, the National Security Council recommended lifting the state of emergency in the provinces of Hakkari and Tunceli on 30 July. At the same time it recommended an extension of the state of emergency for Diyarbakir and Şirnak while indicating that the state of emergency in those provinces should be lifted by the end of the year. On various occasions throughout the year, military members of the National Security Council expressed their opinions about political, social and foreign policy matters in public speeches, statements to the media and declarations. They also played an active role in the debate about reforms to comply with the EU political criteria. They have been particularly active on issues such as cultural rights, education and broadcasting in languages other than Turkish.

The role of the NSC in the High Audio Visual Board has been strengthened as a result of the law on broadcasting (RTÜK), which was re-adopted by Parliament following a veto by the President and is currently pending before the Constitutional Court.

The Armed Forces enjoy a substantial degree of autonomy in establishing the defence budget. Details of the military budget have been made public via the press. There are still two extra-budgetary funds available to the military in spite of the efforts of the Government to close such funds and make such expenditure subject to normal budgetary procedures. The NSC has continued to be an important factor in domestic politics. The introduction of a civilian majority of members and the limitati on to an advisory role, in line with the Accession Partnership priority, do not appear to have changed the way the NSC operates in practice. Although decisions are taken by majority, opinions of its military members continue to carry great weight.

Human rights and the protection of minorities

The constitutional amendments of October 2001 led to the adoption of three sets of implementing legislation in 2002

The three "reform packages", adopted in February, March and August 2002 in Acts No 4744, 4748 and 4771, modified various provisions of Turkey's major legislation and addressed a wide range of human rights issues, including the death penalty, the exercise of fundamental rights and freedoms, pre-trial detention and legal redress.

The government appears determined to ensure a swift implementation of the new provisions. It is making efforts to provide for the approval of all required regulations and administrative measures by November 2002.

Further detailed assessments of this legislation are given below.

Turkey has made some progress with regard to the various international conventions on human rights. In April Parliament ratified the 1969 UN Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination. Turkey introduced a reservation to Article 22 of the Convention, to the effect that cases involving Turkey can only be referred to the International Court of Justice with its consent. In July 2002, Turkey signed the European Agreement Relating to Persons Participating in Proceedings of the European Court of Human Rights. No progress has been made in acceding to other major international human rights instruments such as the Statute of the International Criminal Court, the UN International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, and the UN International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights.

In January 2002 the Government decided to withdraw the derogation made in 1992, concerning Article 5 of the ECHR ("right to liberty and security") with regard to provinces under emergency rule. In line with the constitutional and legislative amendments, the maximum pre-trial detention (police custody) period is now four days before the detainee needs to be brought before a judge, plus a possible three day extension in the areas under emergency rule. This is an improvement on the previous maximum of ten days.

Notwithstanding the revision of Article 38 of the Constitution and the amendment of the Penal Code (see below under Civil and political rights) Turkey did not sign Protocol 6 or Protocol 13 to the ECHR on the abolition of capital punishment. Turkey has not signed the Council of Europe Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities.

Between 1 October 2001 and 30 June 2002, 1874 applications regarding Turkey were made to the European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR). Of these, the majority (1125) were related to Article 6 of the ECHR ("right to a fair trial"). Three hundred and four were concerned with Article 5 ("the right to liberty and security"), and 246 applications were made under Article 3 ("prohibition of torture"). One hundred and four pertained to Article 11 ("freedom of assembly and association"), and 95 to freedom of expression (Article 10).

Turkey's failure to execute judgements of the European Court of Human Rights (ECHR) remains a serious problem. There are, for example, 90 cases where Turkey did not ensure fully the payment of just satisfaction ordered by the Court and 18 cases, related to the exercise of freedom of expression, where the authorities did not erase the consequences of criminal convictions violating the ECHR.

In July the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe adopted an Interim Resolution regarding Turkey's lack of compliance with some 40 judgements of the ECtHR, delivered between 1996 and 2002, on violations of the ECHR by Turkish security forces (see below).

On 30 April, the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe adopted an Interim Resolution urging the Turkish authorities to respond to the Committee's repeated demands that the situation of former Members of Parliament Sadak, Zana, Dicle and Dogan be remedied. The Committee called on Turkey to reopen the proceedings, or undertake other ad hoc measures, so that all consequences of the violation of the right to a fair trial should be erased.

The Loizidou case, concerning the continuing violation of the applicant's right to property and the non-payment of the just satisfaction awarded by the Court, is also under continued consideration by the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe. There was no follow-up to the third Interim Resolution regarding this case, adopted in June 2001, in which Turkey was condemned for the non-execution of the judgement of the European Court of Human Rights of 28 July 1998.

In September, the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe adopted a comprehensive Resolution on the state of implementation of the EctHR decisions by Turkey. The Assembly urged the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe to take all necessary measures to ensure the execution of the Court's decisions without delay. It also recommended the Committee to envisage, if necessary, the use of financial sanctions against Turkey.

In the third "reform package", Turkey introduced the possibility of retrial for criminal and civil cases to comply with the rulings of the ECtHR. This does not, however, address cases such as those mentioned above, as the new provisions will only apply to decisions taken pursuant to applications made to the ECtHR after August 2003. The amendment does not address, either, other questions related to legal redress, such as the restoration of civil and political rights for those co nvicted in violation of the provisions of the ECHR.

With regard to the **enforcement of human rights**, the Turkish government made efforts to strengthen its monitoring and reporting mechanisms, as well as the dialogue with civil society in the field of human rights. The Parliamentary Human Rights Investigation Committee carried out inspections in detention centres, and in December 2001 an Inter-ministerial High Human Rights Board was set up, comprising representatives of the Ministries of Interior, Justice and Human Rights. The Committee should convene on a monthly basis and is intended to monitor the implementation of legislation and the human rights situation on the ground.

There are currently Human Rights Boards in 81 provinces and 831 sub-provinces. The Boards have begun to work, but are not fully operational. The Human Rights Presidency in Ankara, which is in charge of monitoring the implementation of legislation in the area of human rights, is organising awareness campaigns in the local media, and special hotlines and complaint boxes. Every provincial and sub-provincial Board has an application desk, and should evaluate all applications and ensure appropriate follow up.

All Boards should meet every month and report back to the Human Rights Presidency on a quarterly basis. Between October 2001 and June 2002, 1192 applications were filed. Of these, 924 were related directly to human rights violations. Four hundred and twenty of these cases were investigated, and 146 cases were referred to the judiciary.

There is considerable reluctance on the part of some NGOs to participate in the Human Rights Boards. This is due to their reservations regarding the composition of the Boards, which, in some cases, includes members of the security forces.

With regards to training on human rights, a joint European Commission – Council of Europe initiative on "Police, professionalism and the public in Turkey" was agreed in January 2002. However, its functioning has been hindered by a number of technical problems. A further joint European Commission – Council of Europe initiative, which includes raising awareness of human rights issues among law enforcement officials and judicial personnel, is to be initiated in autumn 2

As regards the fight against discrimination, in April 2002 Turkey ratified the 1969 UN Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination. In August 2002 Turkey ratified the Optional Protocol to the UN Convention on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women. The Additional Protocol No 12 to the ECHR on the prohibition of discrimination has yet to be ratified. Turkey has no comprehensive civil or administrative law provisions against discrimination. Much remains to be done in terms of transposition and implementation of the Community anti-discrimination acquis based on Article 13 of the EC Treaty (See Chapter 13- Social policy and employment).

Civil and political rights

Following the August 2002 reforms, **capital punishment** in peacetime has been abolished. The abolition of capital punishment had been widely debated in the coalition Government, and central to this debate was Öcalan's case, which is pending before the ECtHR. The death penalty in time of peace has been converted into life imprisonment. Prisoners convicted of terrorist crimes must serve their full sentence.

The process of converting existing death sentences into life imprisonment began in September 2002. The moratorium on executions, in force since 1984, has been maintained although death sentences continued to be imposed by Courts until August 2002, on the basis of the Anti-Terror Law.

With regard to the prevention of torture and mistreatment, pre-trial detention periods in police custody have been reduced to a maximum of four days, with a possible extension of three days in the provinces still under emergency rule. In these provinces Decree 430, which allows detainees to be returned to custody for periods of up to ten days, continues to apply. In such cases, the detainee is deprived of access to a lawyer and of contacts with relatives. In September the Minister of Justice issued a circular urging the judicial authorities to avoid any misuse of the provisions of Decree 430.

The amendments to Articles 107 and 128 of the Code of Penal Procedure, introduced in February 2002, require that relatives of the detainee be informed of the arrest or custody extension 'without delay' and 'by decision of the prosecutor'.

Following the amendments to Article 16 of the Law on the Establishment and Prosecution Methods of the State Security Courts, detainees who fall under the scope of these Courts have the right of access to a lawyer after 48 hours in detention. Meanwhile the detainees remain "incommunicado" and this is when, reportedly, torture is most likely to occur. Detainees can waive the right to a lawyer, which leaves the possibility for detainees to be subject to pressure to do so.

According to the European Committee for the Prevention of Torture (CPT)'s recommendations, legal counsel should be provided to all detainees as from the outset of deprivation of liberty. During a recent mission to Turkey, the CPT found that the practice of delaying access to a lawyer until a formal statement has been taken persists in many police stations. The majority of investigations by police and prosecutors are still geared towards obtaining a confession from the suspect, often ut the presence of a lawyer, and confessions are still accepted in courts without further supporting evidence.

The Turkish authorities continued to agree to the publication of the reports of the CPT's visits to Turkey. In response to some of the criticisms made in the April 2002 CPT report, the Director General for Security issued a circular on 28 June 2002, in which he called for all officials to be vigilant against mistreatment. The circular states that interrogation rooms may no longer be painted black, and forbids the projection of light onto the face of the accused during the interrogat P>

Although the CPT reported a gradual improvement in detention conditions in the Istanbul area, it also confirmed that allegations of torture and ill treatment in police custody are still frequent. Allegations of torture and of extra-judicial killings are especially prevalent in the South-East. No disappearances have been reported in 2002, but the HADEP officials Mr Serdar Tanis and Mr Ebubekir Deniz, who disappeared in January 2001, are still missing.

Sentences passed on those found guilty of torture or ill-treatment are often light, and frequently converted into fines or suspended. Administrative authorisation is required to prosecute public officials. For example, it has been widely reported that police officers in Diyarbakir were not prosecuted for having allegedly tortured Mr Hasan Irmak, despite forensic reports showing evidence of torture.

Court cases are often prolonged, with many ending unresolved as they exceed the statute of limitations. This can also result from a failure to carry out sentences within a certain period of time, or excessively lengthy court cases. An example can be seen in the case against ten police officers accused of torturing 16 young people in Manisa (Western Anatolia). The case has been open since 1996, but due to the non-appearance of defendants at the trials, and because the lawyers of some of the defendants withdrew from the trial, no progress has been made to date. The statute of limitations will apply to this case in June 2003.

A case concerning the alleged torture of Ms Gülderen Baran, which had started in 1996 against five police officers accused of torture, ended without a judgement.

As referred to above, in July the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe adopted an Interim Resolution regarding Turkey's compliance with some 40 judgements of the ECHR delivered between 1996 and 2002. These judgements relate to violations of the ECHR committed by the Turkish security forces. The Committee recalled that the fight against terrorism should be conducted in full respect of human rights. Whilst welcoming Turkey's recent efforts in adopting reforms, it exp m at the continued allegations of torture and ill-treatment and stressed the need for further measures to be taken to prevent abuses. The Committee called on Turkey to further improve police and gendarmeric education and training, and to establish effective deterrent sanctions against abuses.

An amendment brought by the second "reform package" to Article 13 of the Civil Servants Law makes civil servants, found guilty of torture or ill-treatment, liable to pay the compensation stipulated by the ECtHR themselves. The deterrent effect of this measure remains to be confirmed.

As part of the campaign to increase awareness of human rights issues amongst the security forces, the rulings of the ECtHR are translated and published in the Police Academy magazine. Training at the Police Higher Vocational Education Schools has been extended from nine months to two years, and courses on human rights have been included in the curriculum.

The third "reform package" of August 2002 amended the Law on the Duties and Competencies of the Police. It provided for some safeguards against possible abuses by the police by limiting their discretionary authority. This was confirmed in September through an amendment to the 1998 Regulation on Apprehension, Police Custody and Interrogation. However, a decision of the Public Prosecutor is still required before relatives of an apprehended person can be informed of an apprehension. Detainees falling under the scope of the State Security Courts are still denied the right to benefit from free legal assistance and to have a lawyer present during statement taking procedures. The possibility remains for performing medical examinations to detainees in the presence of the police.

The amendment to the Law on the Duties and Competencies of the Police also permitted the police to close down public Internet cafés and other places where Internet can be accessed.

The **reform of the prison system** has continued and the government started to implement the changes introduced last year. The Law on the Establishment of Prison Staff Training Centres was adopted in July 2002, thus providing a legal basis for the Prison Staff Training School in Ankara. The law lays down the principles and procedures regulating Prison Staff Training Centres and foresees the establishment of four additional centres with a staff of 61 people. Since July 2001, 112 3 prison personnel have been recruited.

The CPT and civil society representatives continued to voice concerns regarding conditions of isolation in F-type prisons. In January the Minister of Justice rejected the compromise formula of "Three Doors, Three Locks" on the grounds that it contravened Article 16 of the Anti-Terror Law. The proposal, put forward by four Turkish bar associations, was intended to alleviate isolation conditions in the new F-type high security prisons by allowing for the locks to three cells to be opened, so that groups of nine inmates (three from each cell) could meet in the corridors.

A circular issued by the Ministry of Justice on 10 January indicated that prisons could allow groups of up to ten prisoners to meet for five hours each week. Certain conditions were attached, namely, participation in communal activities such as education, sport or other socio-cultural activities. The CPT recommended that the conditions concerning the communal activities should be dropped. The Minister of Justice has announced his intention to hold a symposium on such matters once the hung er strike protesting against the F-type prisons has ended.

According to the Ministry of Justice, by May 2002, 232 of the 1233 inmates in F-type prisons were participating in the rehabilitation programmes and social activities on offer. However, there is self-imposed isolation amongst prisoners convicted of terrorism.

In a circular of August 2002, the Minister of Justice urged prosecutors to ensure proper treatment and security of prisoners and to provide for sanctions for prison staff contravening these instructions.

Access to telephones (ten-minute phone calls every week) and the right to open visits are gradually improving, but lawyers still experience difficulty in visiting their clients in prison. The registration of prisoners is, however, well implemented.

The hunger strikes protesting against the F-type prisons continued, and in the reporting period more than ten prisoners died, raising total deaths to 57. In the meantime, many prisoners were conditionally released on health grounds by the courts. The "solidarity" strike was called off in May, and the relatives of the prisoners on strike said they would continue their protest by political means. Official sources stated that there were 20 prisoners on death fast and 13 under medical treatment, although unofficial sources suggest higher figures.

In November 2001 police raided flats housing "solidarity" hunger strikers in the Küçükarmutlu district of Istanbul. Police used teargas, four people died and 20 people were arrested in the operation. The authorities claimed the deaths were due to self-immolation, and forensic reports showed that the victims had no bullet wounds. When questioned, the Turkish authorities said that an investigation had been

authorities claimed the deaths were due to self-immolation, and forensic reports showed that the victims had no bullet wounds. When questioned, the Turkish authorities said that an investigation had been conducted, that an information note on the 'security tion' was available, and that no further investigation was necessary.

One thousand six hundred gendarmerie officers, who were involved in the intervention against the hunger strikers in the Bayrampaşa prison on 19 December 2000 are currently under investigation for {{STS}} ill-treatment{{CCH}} and {{STS}}miscarriage of justice{{CCH}}.

In December 2001, nine members of the Turkish Medical Doctors Union, who had been on trial on charges of encouraging hunger strikers to commit suicide, were acquitted. Also in December 2001, the Ankara State Security Court acquitted 29 defendants on charges of "supporting an armed gang" brought in relation to statements on F-type prisons. The trial of 161 security personnel for the killings of 10 inmates at

Ulucanlar Closed Prison in September 1999 c ontinues.

With regard to the external supervision of prisons, the number of Monitoring Boards established reached the target of 129. Their task is, *inter alia*, to carry out inspections and produce quarterly reports for the Ministry of Justice and other relevant bodies on living and health conditions, transfers and disciplinary measures in penal institutions. The Boards include lawyers, doctors, pharmacists, psychologists, and proportions of the confidence of the proportion of the pr

Ministry of Justice and other relevant bodies on living and health conditions, transfers and disciplinary measures in penal institutions. The Boards include lawyers, doctors, pharmacists, psychologists, and members of other professions. The Monitoring Boards submitted 3963 suggestions for improvements in 460 reports to the Ministry of Justice in the period January-July 2002. The suggestions related mainly to tasks of the Chief Public Prosecutor's office, physical infrastructure and construction, budget and payments, education and rehabilitation, and personnel shortages.

Furthermore, Monitoring Boards made a number of formal applications to the Office of the Chief Public Prosecutor for improvements in the prison system. These relate to living conditions in prisons and the treatment of visitors. According to official reports, the Boards did not come across any allegations of torture during their visits. All 527 prisons were visited and the total number of visits was of 998.

In total, 140 enforcement judges were appointed: by July 2002 they had received 4527 applications regarding various issues, mainly concerned with enforcement of sentences, disciplinary punishments and conditions in prisons. Of the applications, 1308 were admitted, 140 partially admitted and 3079 rejected by the enforcement judges.

Civil society representatives have reservations regarding the composition of the Monitoring Boards, and are thus reluctant to become involved in their work. The actual impact of the Monitoring Boards and of the institution of enforcement judges on detention conditions in prisons needs monitoring.

Concerning the rehabilitation of inmates, IŞKUR (the Turkish Labour Institute), part of the Ministry of Labour and Social Security, launched a scheme to facilitate the integration of former inmates into the employment market. The scheme, carried out in co-operation with the Ministry of Justice and NGOs, is designed to train inmates and guarantees employment after release from prison.

In connection with reducing overcrowding in prisons, reference should be made to Law No 4758 on Conditional Release and Postponement of Punishments (the so-called 'Amnesty Law'). As reported in last year's Regular Report, the previous 'Amnesty Law' adopted in December 2000 was vetoed by the President and annulled by the Constitutional Court in July 2001. It was resubmitted, unchanged, to Parliament, and entered into force in May 2002. By September 2002, 43576 priso this law. Intellectuals and journalists in prison for 'crimes' relating to freedom of expression and 'social conscience' did not, however, benefit from the Amnesty Law. In August 2002, President Sezer granted amnesty to two prisoners on hunger strike on the grounds of their deteriorating health condition.

President Sezer again referred the Amnesty Law to the Constitutional Court, applying for its annulment on the grounds that it was discriminatory. The Constitutional Court decided to revoke Article 1 of the Law, which shortens jail terms for a number of crimes by ten years. It is, however, unclear how the annulment of Article 1 will affect the current enforcement of the law, and the Court rejected the President's request to suspend the law entirely.

According to official sources, in May 2002 there were 60327 persons in prison: 29514 convicted prisoners and 30813detainees.

The issue of persons in prison for expressing non-violent opinions has not been addressed.

With regard to legislative changes pertaining to freedom of expression, the first "reform package", adopted in February 2002, brought amendments to Articles 159 and 312 of the Turkish Penal Code, as well as to Articles 7 and 8 of the Anti-Terror Law. The third "reform package" of August 2002 introduced an additional amendment to Article 159 of the Penal Code.

The first amendment to Article 159 ("insult to the State and to State institutions and threats to the indivisible unity of the Turkish Republic") reduced prison sentences (the maximum penalty was reduced from six to three years imprisonment, for example), and abolished the fines imposed for criticising Turkish laws. However, the actual definition of the offence remained the same. In the second amendment to Article 159, of August 2002, the scope of the provision was amended in the following way: expressions of criticism of the institutions are no longer subject to penalties unless they are intended to "insult" or "deride" those institutions. The notion of "intention" is open to interpretation and only practice will allow the assessment of the full impact of this amendment.

The description of the offence under Article 312 ("incitement to hatred on the basis of differences of social class, race, religion, sect or region") was amended. The notion of incitement ... "in a way that may be dangerous for public order" was added as an element of the offence. According to the authorities, this amendment narrows the scope of Article 312. An additional paragraph in the amended Article introduced a new type of criminal offence, namely insulting & art of the people degradingly and in a way that hurts human dignity", which is punishable by six months to two years imprisonment.

Changes to Articles 7 and 8 of the Anti-Terror Law introduced the notion of "propaganda in connection with the (terrorist) organisation in a way that encourages the use of terrorist methods". Sentences for such offences were increased. Prison sentences for other offences were maintained or reduced, and the bans on television and radio broadcasting were shortened, but fines were increased, and the notion of "visual" propaganda was introduced. Thus, the overall impact of changes to these articles remains to be seen.

Since the entry into force of the first legislative amendments in February, several cases have been brought on the basis of the revised legislation. Case law shows that there has been little consistency in the implementation of the legislative changes. A number of cases have resulted in acquittal, while other, similar cases have resulted in heavy sentences. This has detrimental effect on legal certainty (see also above - the judicial system).

While there appear to be fewer cases brought under Articles 159 and 312, there is a shift towards bringing cases on other grounds. Article 169 of the Turkish Penal Code ("support for illegal organisations"), for example, has been widely used in recent months for cases regarding freedom of expression. According to the judicial authorities the amendments to the Penal Code have led to the overruling by the Supreme Court of 50 judgements made under Article 159 and 24 judgements under Article 312. However, court cases relating to freedom of expression are still being brought against journalists, writers and publishers and some sources indicate that there are currently some 100 pending cases.

A report published by the Association of Turkish Editors on 25 May indicates that 40 books by 39 writers were banned or subject to investigation between January and May 2002 alone. In reply to a parliamentary question the Ministry of the Interior announced that in 2001 the number of books and periodicals confiscated was 1309.

In March, the National Film Censors banned the film "Big Man, Small Love", following complaints by police officers, who were offended by the depiction of police brutality.

The interpretation of legislation is crucial to ensuring actual freedom of expression. There are as yet no signs that the interpretation of the law by judges consistently takes into account the rights of the defendant under the ECHR.

As regards freedom of the press, the first "reform package" amended Article 8 of the Anti-Terror Law. Fines for publishers found guilty of offences of "terrorist propaganda" were increased from a minimum TL 100 million to a minimum TL three billion.

The second "reform package", which contained modifications to the Press Law, did little to ease restrictions on the freedom of the press. It introduced the possibility to confiscate the printing equipment of publications found to be acting against the basic principles of the "integrity of the nation, republican order, or the country's national security". The maximum suspension for a publishing company found guilty of such offences has been shortened, as has the maximum len imprisonment for those who continue to publish suspended periodicals.

The third "reform package" further modified the Press Law by replacing prison sentences for crimes related to the press with heavy fines. The high level of the newly introduced fines (which range from TL one billion to a TL 100 billion) prompted President Sezer to ask the Constitutional Court, on 14 August 2002, to abrogate these amendments. The amount of the fines was described as disproportionate and in

The grounds for imposing penalties were not modified and the Press Law continues to maintain restrictions on the freedom of the press. Members of the press corps are subject to pressure and censorship, and many face prosecutions. Journalists have been prosecuted on the grounds of Articles 7 and 8 of the Anti-Terror Law as well as Articles 159 and 169 of the Turkish Penal Code.

In provinces under the state of emergency the authorities made use of the right to forbid distribution and printing of newspapers and other publications.

The independence of the press is weakened by the absence of an organised press union.

contradiction with the constitutional principles of freedom of the press a nd dissemination of thought.

In July 2002 the ban introduced in December 2000 on broadcast and media publications concerning the F-type prisons and the hunger strikes was lifted.

In the field of **broadcasting**, the first "reform package" brought changes to Article 8 of the Anti-Terror Law. The maximum closure period for radio or TV channels for propaganda against the unity of the State was reduced from fifteen to seven days.

In the third "reform package", the High Audio-Visual Board (RTÜK) Law was amended to allow for "broadcasts in the different languages and dialects used traditionally by Turkish citizens in their daily lives". . Its implementation is subject to the adoption of a regulation by RTÜK's Supreme Board by November 2002. The amendment confirms, however, restrictions to broadcasts which "contradict the fundamental principles of the Turkish Republic and the sible integrity of the State".

The scope for bans on broadcasts was narrowed with the deletion of references to broadcasts promoting "pessimism" and "desperation", which had been introduced in May 2002.

Re-transmission of foreign broadcasting became legal. The implementation of this provision is, however, subject to the adoption of a regulation no later than by August 2003. In practice, as from May 2002 the ban on the re-broadcasting of the BBC World Service and Deutsche Welle programmes, imposed in August 2001, had been lifted.

These amendments follow the adoption of the RTÜK Law in May 2002 when Parliament re-adopted unchanged the RTÜK Law. This law imposed tighter restrictions on freedom of expression. It prohibited broadcasts which "violate the existence and independence of the Turkish Republic, the territorial and national integrity of the State, the reforms and principles of Atatürk", or "instigate the community to violence, terror, or ethnic discrimination" and introduce d very high penalties.

The RTÜK Law also introduced strict censorship of Internet content, as web pages have to be submitted to the authorities for approval before being published.

The RTÜK Law penalises private radio and television stations for the use of "offensive language, libel, obscenity, incitement to separatism, or for the broadcasting of programmes in Kurdish". In March 2002, RTÜK imposed a record number of bans on radio and television stations, and on 17 April 2002 CNN-Türk was closed down for a day. In February, Mr Nevzat Bingöl, owner of the local TV station "Gün TV" in Diyarbakir, was indicted for having broadcast a Kurdish song, and charged under Article 8 of the Anti-Terror Law ("disseminating separatist propaganda"). On 12 February, without waiting for the outcome of the trial, RTÜK imposed a yearlong broadcasting ban on the TV station. The ban was lifted in March 2002, and the final court decision is pending.

Following a request by President Sezer for the law to be annulled, the Constitutional Court issued in June 2002 a suspension order on two Articles. These relate to the composition of the RTÜK Board and the ownership of shares. However, the main provisions of the law remain in force pending further deliberations by the Constitutional Court.

With regard to freedom of association and peaceful assembly, following the amendment of Article 33 of the Constitution in October 2001 (which modified the general rules and restrictions on the right to form an association), the second "reform package" introduced changes to the Law on the Establishment of Associations. Articles 7, 11 and 12, which regulate relations with international organisations, were removed from the amended Law thus lifting restrictions on cont acts with foreign counterparts. The amended law elaborated on the freedom to establish associations and to join associations. The grounds for banning an association were restricted, and the previous justification of there being a 'probability' of it committing a crime was removed. All references to "languages banned by the law" were deleted. The minimum age for an organiser of an association or gathering was lowered from 21 to 18 years.

While Articles 7, 11 and 12 of the Law on Associations were removed from the amended law, restrictions of similar nature had been introduced into the Civil Code of January 2002, thus maintaining the possibility for the authorities of exerting control over relations with international organisations.

The exercise of freedom of association is still subject to restrictions. Under the amended law, associations formed by university students may deal with educational matters only. Those sentenced under Article 312 of the Penal Code are barred from founding an association for five years (this prohibition was permanent in the previous legislation). Under the new legislation, the restrictions imposed in Article 5 of the Law on Associations ("it is forbidden to found an association for the e purpose of engaging in any activity on the grounds of or in the name of any region, race, social class, religion or sect") remain in place. Furthermore, associations cannot use languages other than Turkish in their official contacts, and the minimum number of federations required to create a confederation was increased from three to five, thus making it more difficult to form a confederation.

The third "reform package" further revised the Law on Associations. A number of restrictions on the scope of associations' activities have been removed. These relate mainly to limitations imposed on civil servants on their right to establish associations and to the ban on associations' activities for civil defence purposes.

The amendment to the Law on Associations further provided for the establishment of a new body in charge of associations within the Ministry of the Interior, as opposed to the current Directorate General for Security. The changes also introduced new control procedures on the associations' activities and accounts, which are to be regulated by the Ministries of the Interior and of Finance no later than by August 2003. Significant discretionary powers for inspecting and auditing the fac s, books, accounts and transactions of the associations continue to be given to the authorities.

The general restrictive character of the Law on Associations has been maintained, including a cumbersome prior authorisation system. Activities of foreign associations in general are limited to a restricted number of areas and safeguards against breaches of the right to privacy in relation to documents held by associations are not provided for. The various legal grounds for banning associations, namely in connection with the wording of their names and the definition of their objectives, have remained unchanged.

Amnesty International was given permission to open a branch in Turkey in March. Civil society organisations became more active during the reporting period. The Izmir Bar Association, for example, took an important initiative with regard to the fight against torture, and four bar associations joined forces to propose the "Three Doors, Three Locks" compromise, as a solution to the deadlock on F-type prisons. Furthermore, the Turkish Businessmen's and Industrialists' As ÜSIAD) published several papers on political reforms in Turkey, and in June, the Civil Society Platform, which is made up of 175 civil society organisations, issued a notice urging politicians to commit themselves and 'take brave steps' on the way to EU membership.

NGOs, however, encounter difficulties in establishing dialogue with the authorities and seek to participate more actively in the reform process. At the initiative of the Council of Europe's Commissioner for Human Rights Mr Gil-Robles, a seminar on civil society was held in Ankara in May, attended by representatives from NGOs and from the Turkish authorities. Those present concluded that there should be closer co-operation between civil society and the authorities, and that NGOs shou involved in the drafting of a new law on associations.

The pressure on NGOs in relation to their support for F-type prison protests subsided and several court cases against NGOs, journalists and doctors ended in acquittal. In March the case against the Human Rights Foundation (HRF), which faced charges of opening a rehabilitation centre for victims of torture in Diyarbakir without authorisation from the Ministry of Health, ended in acquittal. However, there is still a court case against the HRF on the grounds of possession of illegal publicat ions. The activities of some human rights organisations continue to be restricted. A case has been brought against the Ankara branch of the Human Rights Association (HRA), under Article 169 of the Turkish Penal Code for supporting the protest against F-type prisons.

Several civil society organisations, which focus on human rights questions, are subject to close monitoring and some face prosecutions, confiscation of equipment, and censorship of their press releases and communiqués.

The Mesopotamia Culture Centre, the HRA Bingöl branch, and HRA headquarters have been subject to investigations. The Chairperson of Diyarbakır HRA branch, as well as the HRA branches in İstanbul, İzmir and Elazig face investigations and prosecutions on numerous charges.

The pressure on NGOs was extended to German foundations, following the publication of a book that alleged that German foundations had supported protests against gold mining in Bergama. The Konrad Adenauer, Friedrich Ebert, Heinrich Böll, and Friedrich Naumann Foundations, and the Orient Institute are under investigation by the State Security Court Prosecutor for allegations of "involvement in activities against the national unity and secular structure of the country."

In February the Cultural Association of the Union of Alevi and Bektaşi Formations was dissolved on the grounds that, according to Articles 14 and 24 of the Constitution, and Article 5 of the Law on Associations, it was not possible to found an association by the name of Alevi or Bektaşi, which refer to Moslem religious communities. Following an appeal by the associ ation, the case is pending before the Supreme Court. The second "reform package" introduced amendments to the Law on Public Meetings and Demonstration Marches, notably deleting Article 21, thereby extending to public organisations the right to hold meetings and demonstrations. The third "reform package" introduced further changes. The procedures regulating active participation by foreigners in gatherings were somewhat eased, as the requirement for "authorisation" has been reduced to 48 hours, as from 72 hours.

However, the law retains its restrictive character including the requirement of the signing of the "notification" by every member of the organising committee, accompanied by the "identities, occupations, permanent address and, where applicable, workplaces of the members and chairperson of the organising committee". The committee also has to comprise a minimum of seven members.

Despite the changes, the authorities still have considerable discretionary powers in authorising meetings and demonstrations. In practice significant obstacles to the holding of marches and demonstrations remain.

Restrictions on the showing of films, the holding of concerts and the staging of theatre plays in public places were eased in August 2002. The requirement for prior authorisation for performances was replaced with a notification obligation, 48 hours in advance. However, performances can be subject to sanctions if they are considered to be against the indivisible integrity of the State.

As for foundations, the third "reform package" provided for the possibility of establishing international co-operation both for Turkish foundations and for foundations established abroad. This co-operation is, however, subject to a number of conditions such as being considered "useful", being authorised by the Council of Ministers and, in the case of foreign foundations, being reciprocal.

With regard to the law on **political parties**, Article 101 of the Political Parties Law was amended, with the second "reform package", in line with the amendment made to Article 68 of the Constitution. Under the new law, the Constitutional Court may decide to deprive a political party of financial assistance, rather than dissolving it. While leaving the grounds for sanctioning political parties unchanged, it makes it more difficult to close down a political party.

In the case of Sadak and others v. Turkey, in which the applicants complained that, with the dissolution of their party (DEP), they had been deprived of their parliamentary mandates, the European Court of Human Rights ruled in June 2002 that there had been a violation of Article 3 of Protocol No 1 ("right to free elections") of the ECHR.

Following the ECtHR judgement of 31 July 2001 that the closure of the Welfare Party (Refah Partisi) was not in violation of the ECHR, the Party requested that the case be referred to the Grand Chamber of the ECtHR under Article 43 of the ECHR. The hearing took place on 19 June 2002, and judgement is pending.

A closure proceeding against the People's Democracy Party (HADEP), initiated in 1999, is pending before the Constitutional Court. The Rights and Freedoms Party (HAK-PAR), which was founded in February 2002, is also facing a closure case on charges that its statute and programme contain elements contrary to the "indivisible unity of the State and the nation".

Freedom of religion is guaranteed but non-Moslem religious communities face legal obstacles. As indicated below, some of these obstacles have been addressed in the August 2002 "reform package".

Non-Moslem religious communities, whether recognised by the 1923 Lausanne Peace Treaty (Greeks, Armenians and Jews) or not have encountered problems with regard to their lack of legal personality and property rights, and a ban on the training of clergy in Turkey.

Cadastral registration of properties is in the name of individuals or foundations. In the case of non-Moslem religious communities, only properties declared under Law No 2762 of 1936 are legally recognised, and all properties not listed in 1936 have been taken over by the Turkish State or may be confiscated. Armenian, Greek and Catholic properties have been confiscated, or are at risk. There have been two cases of confiscation of Armenian property in recent months. The Protestant community faces significant administrative problems regarding the rental of places of worship and the construction of new churches. However, the authorities have granted permission in July 2002 for the resumption of the construction of a new Protestant Church in Diyarbakir.

Restrictions on restoration of churches and school buildings have been eased.

In an effort to remedy some problems related to property rights, the third "reform package" introduced an amendment to the Law on Foundations." Community foundations" are allowed, as of August 2002, to acquire and dispose of property, "regardless of whether or not they have the statute of foundations". Furthermore, these communities are entitled to register the property they actually use as long as they can prove ownership. The implementation of this amendment is subject to a number of conditions. Permission must be obtained from the Council of Ministers for the purpose of acquisition and disposal of new property but there is no appeal procedure foreseen. A deadline of six months has been fixed for filing applications to register property in use although it is not clear to which administrative bodies these applications should be addressed. The short time limit constitutes a hindrance in practice which could jeopardise the objective of the reform package in this area, since the six-month term started on 9 August 2002, and the applicable procedures remain to be specified.

Although the scope of these new provisions is as yet unclear, it would appear that they apply only to non-Moslem foundations. This would exclude all religious communities that do not have the status of foundations, including the non-Turkish Catholic and Protestant communities.

The Law on Foundations continues to prohibit the renting or lending of property not covered by the August 2002 reform. The discretionary power of the Directorate General of Foundations over religious foundations, including the possibility of dismissing their trustees, remains unchanged. The recent amendment does not provide for the return of confiscated property.

The ban remains on the training of clergy for religious minorities. Non-Turkish clergy often have difficulties with visa and residence permits.

The Armenian Patriarch asked that a special university department, specialising in the teaching of Christianity, be set up in Istanbul. The authorities agreed, but insisted that Moslems be in charge of the teaching. This was rejected by the Patriarch. The Greek Orthodox community has repeatedly requested the re-opening of the Halki seminary, which has been closed since 1971. The Protestant and Catholic communities consider that they would benefit from the freedom to train clergy in Turkey.

Religious communities may have their own schools, but the Deputy Head of such schools must be a (Moslem) representative of the Ministry of National Education, who has greater authority than the Head (of the religious community concerned). The Syriac community does not have its own schools and ,consequently, finds it difficult to teach its liturgical language to its youth.

Compulsory religious courses cover descriptions of different religions, but are considered by many religious minorities to be subjective and inaccurate. In a recent initiative, the Ministry of National Education suggested that Christian communities could draft new entries for the textbooks. This initiative still needs to be followed up.

There are reports of harassment of clergy by the authorities. Charitable associations such as Caritas face problems because of the lack of legal status.

Despite these difficulties, there are signs of increasing de facto recognition of non-Moslem communities. The Turkish State is becoming more involved in the inter-religious dialogue at international level, and is adopting a more inclusive approach in religious education. In October 2001 the Ministry of Interior invited the leaders of the different religious communities to voice their concerns and requests. As yet, however, there has been no adequate follow-up to this initiative: re quests have either remained unanswered, or have been rejected. The Directorate for Religious Affairs (Diyanet) asked Jewish and Christian representatives to join in the common declaration on peace in the Middle East at the beginning of 2002.

There has been no improvement in the status of the Alevis.

The question of **asylum seekers** and **trafficking in human beings** is taken up in *Chapter 24 – Co-operation in the field of justice and home affairs.*

Economic, social and cultural rights

The new Civil Code entered into force on 1 January 2002 (see also Chapter 13 - Social policy and employment). With regard to **gender equality**, in line with the amendment made in October 2001 to Article 41 of the Constitution, the concept of 'the head of the family' was abolished and equal opportunities for women and men in family life were introduced. In particular, amendments were made to guarantee equal rights and obligations of The mother's rights to pregnancy and childbirth expenses, in the event that the father refuses to recognise the child, were extended. However, the Article which stipulates that goods acquired during marriage shall be shared equally between the spouses only applies to marriages entered into after the adoption of the new Civil Code.

On 3 January 2002 Parliament overturned the 1982 regulation banning female civil servants from wearing trousers in the work place. The internal code of the Parliament is not in line with this change. The Directorate for Religious Affairs announced in May 2002 a series of "clarifications" on the Moslem faith, aligning the right of women to attend public religious services with that of men. The regulation, which allowed students at public nursing schools to be subjected to virgini ty tests, was abolished in February.

There are legislative barriers preventing women from entering certain types of employment and women and men do not enjoy equal pay in practice. Active participation of women in politics is low. Twenty-three out of 550 Members of the present Parliament are female.

"Honour killings" qualify for reduced sentences, which may be further reduced if the accused is a minor.

The new Civil Code incorporates some amendments regarding the protection and **rights of the child**. The new Article 182 introduces the concept of the 'interests of the child' in cases of separation or divorce. Changes to Article 282 eliminate discrimination between the legal status of legitimate and illegitimate children. Turkey still does not comply with Articles 7 ("child's right to protection") and 17 ("right of mothers and children t mic protection") of the European Social Charter. Article 17 of the Charter declares the right of young delinquents to protection, but juveniles are still imprisoned in Turkey.

Turkey ratified the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography in June.

Turkey's efforts to prevent child labour have been acknowledged by the International Labour Organisation (ILO). However, despite a decrease in the number of children working, it has been estimated that there are 893000 children working in Turkey (see also Chapter 13 - Social policy and employment). Although the Child Bureau has drawn up a national programme and action plan to combat child labour, it has yet to be properly implemented. Work continues on the ILO/IPEC (International P rogramme for the Elimination of Child Labour) project to improve children's rights.

There has been no progress with the social and educational rights of disabled persons and legislation is not implemented properly.

Trade Unions are subject to restrictions concerning freedom of association and the right to strike. Their activities continue to be impeded by the requirement of a 10% threshold for a trade union to be eligible for collective bargaining at company level. Public sector employees are deprived of the right to strike. Civil servants who took unauthorised strike action in December 2000 to obtain the right to strike and the right to collective bargaining have been prosecuted. Despite its new legal status, the Economic and Social Council has not yet convened.

Turkey ratified the European Social Charter in 1989, with reservations on Article 5 ("right to organise") and Article 6 ("right to bargain collectively and to strike"). Turkey has yet to sign the revised European Social Charter.

Some steps have been taken concerning the social protection of unemployed people. In April 2002, payments of unemployment benefit were made for the first time. It is planned that employees who are laid off due to privatisation will receive unemployment benefits from the Privatisation Administration for six to eight months.

As for cultural rights, following the constitutional amendment to Article 26, which removed the restriction that "No language prohibited by law shall be used in the expression and dissemination of thought", the third "reform package" introduced the possibility to broadcast in the different languages and dialects used traditionally by Turkish citizens in their daily lives. As stated above, the implementation of this

provision is subject to the adoption of a forth coming regulation. There are signs that the spirit of the August 2002 reform is being implemented. On Turkey's Victory day (30 August 2002), a public concert took place in Ephesus where a famous Turkish singer performed in several languages, namely in Kurdish, Armenian, Greek and Turkish. The concert benefited from the support of the Minister of Culture and was followed by subsequent concerts in Aspendos (Antalya) and Istanbul.

The third "reform package" also amended the Law on Foreign Language Education and Teaching. It provided for the possibility of learning different languages and dialects traditionally used by Turkish citizens in their daily lives and of opening private courses for that purpose on the condition that this does not contradict the "indivisible integrity of the State". A regulation implementing this provision was adopted on 19 September.

Following the adoption of this amendment, a number of court cases against students who had petitioned for optional Kurdish courses at university level, were dropped.

Public education in languages other than Turkish does not fall under the scope of the amended Law on Foreign Language Education and Teaching, as Article 42 of the Constitution ("no language other than Turkish shall be taught as a mother tongue to Turkish citizens at any institutions of training or education") remained unchanged.

In the period before the adoption of the third "reform package" the use of the Kurdish language was subject to wide-ranging restrictions.

In May the High Audio-Visual Board (RTÜK) imposed a 180-day ban on the "Voice of Anatolia", following a programme concerning the closure of the Cultural Association of the Union of Alevi and Bektashi associations. The reason for the order to stop broadcasting was stated to be the violation of the principle of "not allowing broadcasts which lead society to violence, terrorism or ethnic discrimination or create feelings of hatred among the public", as set out in Art icle 4(g) of the RTÜK Law.

Seventeen music cassettes of Kurdish songs were banned in the area under emergency rule, and several radio and TV stations were subject to closure or suspension because they broadcast Kurdish songs. Books on the Laz culture and on Pontus culture were subject to investigation and prosecution. In April, Mr Sülhattin Önen, a minibus driver in the Diyarbakir region, was indicted for listening to a cassette of Kurdish music. He was charged under Article 169 of the Turkish Penal Code ("support for a terrorist organisation") and was given a suspended sentence of 45 months. In August, Mr Azad Yasar's Kurdish poetry book was withdrawn from circulation. The author was put under investigation on the suspicion of aiming at the division of the country. Parents who gave children Kurdish names were subject to prosecution.

Minority rights and the protection of minorities

There has been limited improvement in practice in the ability of members of ethnic groups, with a cultural identity and common traditions, to express their linguistic and cultural identity. Turkey has not signed the Council of Europe Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities, and does not recognise minorities other than those mentioned in the 1923 Treaty of Lausanne.

Following a circular issued by the Ministry of National Education in October 2001, calling for the elimination of all pejorative language with regard to the Roma community in dictionary definitions, all official dictionaries are being corrected. No further legislative steps have been undertaken, and the Settlement Law of 1934 is still applicable to "nomadic gypsies", implying that they are still among the categories of people who are not accepted in Turkey as immigrants. There is much prejudice against Roma communities in Turkey, and the existing legislation does not provide them with sufficient protection.

In June, following a recommendation made by the National Security Council, Parliament decided to lift the state of emergency in the provinces of Hakkari and Tunceli. This measure took effect as of 30 July 2002. The state of emergency was extended for four months in the two other provinces of Diyarbakir and Sirnak, but the National Security Council indicated that it would be lifted in full by the end of the year.

There have been some positive signs regarding the enjoyment of cultural rights in the Southeast: a photographic exhibition on the Syriac minority was held in Diyarbakir in early November, for example, and a European Film Festival, previously banned, also took place.

The security situation has continued to improve in the Southeast. After the lifting of the state of emergency in Hakkari and Tunceli, some relaxation in daily life has been reported. The Tunceli Culture and Nature Festival took place between 1 and 4 August with no ban on bands singing in Kurdish. Previously banned journals and newspapers could be found at newsagents. However, the Governor of Tunceli stated that the military would not be pulled back. With the lifting of emergency rule in the Southeastern province of Hakkari, the security forces' practices in the region have also changed. In the province military influence is still felt, but the atmosphere is reportedly much less tense. According to reports from the city, the food quota has been lifted.

In the light of certain remaining restrictions, the situation in the Southeast following the lifting of the state of emergency needs to be monitored.

Efforts have continued to improve the situation of displaced persons. During his visit to Turkey in June 2002, the UN Secretary General's Special Representative for Displaced Persons acknowledged a greater openness in the authorities' attitude. The European Parliament and the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe paid visits to the Southeast.

According to the UN Secretary General Representative for Displaced Persons's Report the number of displaced persons amounts to a figure between 378000 and one million. The "Return to Village and Rehabilitation Project" has been further implemented, and according to the authorities, 37000 persons have now returned to their villages. However, it is difficult to evaluate the actual implementation of this project, as official information is scarce. The same applies to the Action Plan f Southeast adopted by the National Security Council, which has still not been made public.

In Diyarbakir, Bingöl, Van and other areas, a sizeable number of villagers have returned to their villages. In the area of Mardin, members of the Syriac Orthodox community have been authorised to return to 20 villages. However, the overall situation of displaced persons remains a matter of concern.

Procedures for authorising displaced persons to return to their villages are slow: the number of people who have returned remains relatively modest mainly due to the lack of infrastructure and funding for rebuilding villages.

Over 4000 displaced people now live in newly built "central villages". The majority of the displaced rural population continues to live in urban centres in very difficult economic and social conditions. Inadequate health care, lack of hygiene, malnutrition, insufficient drinking water, and improper disposal of sewage and garbage are common problems. This situation has adverse consequences for the children whose education and literacy levels are unsatisfactory.

The "village guards" system acts as a disincentive for displaced persons to return to their villages. There are currently 60000 - 70000 village guards in the area whose conduct is widely reported to be undisciplined and abusive. There are still landmines in the region and explosions are frequent. Civil society organisations active in the region are subject to considerable pressure from the authorities, facing judicial proceedings as well as temporary closures (see above vil and political rights). This is also the case in "adjacent provinces", those bordering the provinces under the state of emergency, such as Van. Many of these restrictions on cultural rights and freedom of association are linked to the perceived need to protect the indivisibility of the State. The authorities justify the restrictions as being a part of the campaign against terrorism.

Turkish engagement in a dialogue with the OSCE High Commissioner on National Minorities would be a welcome development.

Cyprus

The prospects for a settlement of the Cyprus problem under the auspices of the United Nations are analysed in the Regular Report on Cyprus. In the course of the enhanced political dialogue with Turkey, and at the EC-Turkey Association Council in April 2002, the Turkish government expressed its support for the current process of direct talks between the leaders of the two communities.

The EU repeatedly emphasised the need for Turkey to encourage the Turkish Cypriot leadership to work towards reaching a settlement on the Cyprus issue before the end of accession negotiations.

Peaceful settlement of border disputes

Relations between Turkey and Greece have continued to improve, largely due to the close co-operation between the Foreign Ministers of the two countries. The restructured government declared in July that it would continue along this path.

During the last year, ten bilateral co-operation agreements have entered into force in areas such as environment and economic development. Furthermore, five co-operation agreements regarding culture and emergency relief were signed. Greece continues to provide technical know-how to Turkey on acquis related issues.

In March, an agreement was signed between the two governments to build a natural gas pipeline, which will provide for the supply of natural gas from the Caspian Sea area to Greece via Turkey. This project, at the cost of €300 million, is of high symbolic importance as it is a physical link between the two countries.

Economic co-operation has proceeded in other sectors. A Turkish-Greek Joint Economic Commission met for the first time in Athens on 13 February, and a protocol was signed covering co-operation in the fields of energy, industry, agriculture, transport, SMEs, customs and regional co-operation.

Moreover, a protocol was ratified between the two countries for the readmission of illegal migrants. It has entered into force but is not yet implemented fully. Efforts are continuing to promote new confidence building measures, such as the cancellation of military exercises in the Aegean Sea. Contacts have started between the intelligence agencies of both countries. Greece and Turkey organised a joint ceremony for the 50th anniversary of NATO in Brussels, and in April 2002 the Greek and Turkish Foreign Ministers made a joint visit to the Middle East. In March, the foreign ministries began exploratory contacts about the Aegean. The contacts were formally launched in Istanbul in the context of the EU-OIC (European Union-Organisation of the Islamic Conference) forum on the harmony of civilisations.

General Evaluation

The decision on the candidate status of Turkey in Helsinki in 1999 has encouraged Turkey to introduce a series of fundamental reforms. A major constitutional reform was introduced in October 2001 aimed at strengthening guarantees in the field of human rights and fundamental freedoms and restricting the grounds for capital punishment. A new Civil Code was adopted in November 2001. Three sets of reform packages were adopted in February, March and August 2002. The death penalty has been lifted in peacetime. The state of emergency has now been lifted in two provinces in the South East and the decision has been taken to lift it in the two provinces where it still applies by the end of this year.

The adoption of these reforms is an important signal of the determination of the majority of Turkey's political leaders to move towards further alignment with the values and standards of the European Union. The August reforms were adopted under difficult political and economic circumstances and are particularly significant as they impinge upon traditionally sensitive issues.

The reform of the prison system continued, and progress was made in terms of improving physical conditions. Monitoring Boards and the new system of enforcement judges are now operational. A number of recommendations of the European Committee for the Prevention of Torture (CPT) are being implemented. However, despite progress, certain problems remain with conditions in F-Type prisons.

The reduction in the length of pre-trial detention (police custody) periods is a positive development in the context of the fight against torture. However, the lack of immediate access to a lawyer means that incommunicado detention for prisoners convicted under State Security Courts continues. Longer periods of custody still apply in the areas under the state of emergency. There have been continued allegations of torture and ill-treatment and little progress in the prosecution of those a ccused of such abuses.

The reform package of August provides for the retrial of persons whose convictions have been found by the European Court of Human Rights to be in violation of the European Convention on Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms

The change made to Article 159 of the Turkish Penal Code means that the expression of opinion without the "intention" of "insulting" public institutions will no longer face criminal sanction. Changes to Articles 312 of the Penal Code and to the Anti-Terror Law, the Press Law, the Law on Political Parties and the Law on Associations eased certain restrictions on freedom of expression, association, the press and broadcasting.

The August package removed some restrictions in the law on broadcasting which had been readopted by Parliament in May following the president's veto. However the prosecution of writers, journalists and publishers has continued.

Progress has been made in the area of freedom of association where the law on associations has been modified and some restrictions lifted. Various grounds for banning associations remain, however.

The generally restrictive character of the Law on Associations remains, including the prior authorisation system. Foreign associations in Turkey are subject to certain limitations and strict controls.

As part of the August package, broadcasting and education in languages other than Turkish have now been authorised. Although the Law on Foundations has been amended, religious minorities continue to face limitations regarding legal personality, property rights, training of clergy and education.

The new Civil Code includes provisions aimed at improving gender equality and strengthening guarantees regarding the protection and rights of the child. Turkey ratified the 1969 UN Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination. However, trade unions remain subject to restrictions and child labour persists. The legislation which allows for reduced sentences for crimes related to "honour killings" is still applicable.

Reform of the judicial system has continued. The competence of the State Security Courts has been narrowed and the period of pre-trial detention reduced. The functioning of these Courts, though, is still not in line with international standards. There are continued reports that the judiciary does not always act in an independent and consistent manner. Training courses in human rights have taken place for judges and law enforcement officials.

A number of initiatives to foster more transparency in Turkey's public life have been taken in the last year. Nonetheless, corruption remains a serious problem. The relevant Conventions of the Council of Europe have not yet been ratified.

The lifting of the state of emergency in two provinces of the South East has led to an improvement in the conditions of daily life there. The protection of human rights in the region needs to be strengthened.

The constitutional amendment introducing changes to the composition and role of the National Security Council has been put into practice. Nonetheless, these changes do not appear to have modified the way in which the National Security Council operates in practice.

Turkey has continued to express support for direct talks between the leaders of the two communities in Cyprus to achieve a comprehensive settlement of the Cyprus problem. The EU, in line with statements issued by the United Nations Security Council, has emphasised the need for Turkey to take further steps to encourage the Turkish Cypriot leadership to work towards reaching a settlement before the end of accession negotiations.

Relations between Turkey and Greece have continued to improve. Efforts are continuing to put in effect new confidence building measures. Exploratory contacts on the Aegean between the two foreign ministries started in March 2002.

Overall, Turkey has made noticeable progress towards meeting the Copenhagen political criteria since the Commission issued its report in 1998, and in particular in the course of the last year. The reforms adopted in August 2002 are particularly far-reaching. Taken together, these reforms provide much of the ground work for strengthening democracy and the protection of human rights in Turkey. They open the way for further changes which should enable Turkish citizens progressively to enjoy rights and freedoms commensurate with those prevailing in the European Union.

Nonetheless Turkey does not fully meet the political criteria. First, the reforms contain a number of significant limitations, which are set out in this report, on the full enjoyment of fundamental rights and freedoms. Important restrictions remain, notably, to freedom of expression, including in particular the written press and broadcasting, freedom of peaceful assembly, freedom of association, freedom of religion and the right to legal redress.

Secondly, many of the reforms require the adoption of regulations or other administrative measures, which should be in line with European standards. Some of these measures have already been introduced and others are being drawn up. To be effective, the reforms will need to be implemented in practice by executive and judicial bodies at different levels throughout the country.

The Commission considers that the decision of the High Electoral Board to prevent the leader of a major political party from participating in the November 3 General Elections does not reflect the spirit of the reforms.

Thirdly, a number of important issues arising under the political criteria have yet to be adequately addressed. These include the fight against torture and ill-treatment, civilian control of the military, the situation of persons imprisoned for expressing non-violent opinions, and compliance with the decisions of the European Court of Human Rights.

In the light of the noticeable progress made in recent years and of the remaining areas requiring further attention, Turkey is encouraged to pursue the reform process to strengthen democracy and the protection of human rights, in law and in practice. This will enable Turkey to overcome the remaining obstacles to full compliance with the political criteria.

Economic criteria

Introduction

In its 1989 Opinion on Turkey's application for EU membership, the Commission concluded:

"Turkey's economic and political situation, . . . , does not convince it that the adjustment problems which would confront Turkey if it were to accede to the Community could be overcome in the medium term".

and in practice. This will enable Turkey to overcome the remaining obstacles to full compliance with the political criteria.

In its 2001 Regular Report, the Commission found that:

"Confronted with two financial crises, Turkey has been unable to make further progress towards achieving a functioning market economy. Considerable parts of its economy are, however, already competing in the EU market, under the framework of the customs union with the EC."

In examining economic developments in Turkey since the first Regular Report, the Commission's approach was guided by the June 1993 conclusions of the Copenhagen European Council, which stated that membership of the Union requires:

- the existence of a functioning market economy;
- · the capacity to cope with competitive pressure and market forces within the Union.

In the analysis below, the Commission has followed the methodology applied in the previous annual Regular Reports. The analysis in this year's Regular Report takes stock of developments since 1997.

Summary of economic developments since 1997

Economic growth was very volatile during 1997-2001, with periods of overheating and two sharp recessions. Despite large output fluctuations, current account imbalances remained limited, as tourism revenues, workers remittances and portfolio investment helped to smooth trade account imbalances. Annual inflows of foreign direct investment remained negligible, accounting for about 0.8% of GDP on average. Average annual consumer price inflation was 69.9%, w ith large fluctuations between 101% year-on-year in January 1998 and 33% in February 2001. The general government deficit accounted for 15.7% of GDP on average, fluctuating between 6% and 28.7% of GDP, according to EU standards (ESA95). After the financial crises in 2000 and 2001, the public finance situation deteriorated markedly, partly due to higher interest rate expenditure reflecting increased uncertainty. The costs of the bailing out the banking sector and the depreciation resulted in an increase of the stock of the general government debt from 55.6% of GDP in 1997 to 101.4% in 2001. Real interest rates remained very high. The real effective exchange rate remained relatively stable in the first half of the reporting period. In 2000, a crawling peg resulted in a considerable real appreciation, which after the free floating in February 2001 was more than offset by a sharp depreciation.

Main Economic Trends										
Turkey		1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	Average	2002 latest		
Real GDP growth rate	per cent	7.5	3.1	-4.7	7.4	-7.4	1.2	2.3 Q1		
Inflation rate (CPI) ^c - annual average	per cent	85.7	84.9	64.2	57.3	57.6	69.9	:		
- December-on-December	per cent	99.9	68.9	66.9	41.3	74.2	70.2	:		
Unemployment rate - LFS definition	per cent	6.7	6.8	7.7	6.6	8.5	7.3	9.6 Q2		
General government budget balance	per cent of GDP	-13.4	-11.9	-18.7	-6.0	-28.7	-15.7			
Current account balance	per cent of GDP	-1.4	1.0	-0.7	-5.3	2.3	-0.8			
	million ECU/€	-2,326	1,770	-1,280	-11,510	3,792 b	-1,911	-997 JanMay ^b		
Gross foreign debt of the whole economy - debt export ratio	per cent of exports of goods and services	155.9	156.0	206.6	200.3	:	:			
	million ECU/€	64,308	67,514 °	83,002	103,752	:	:			
Foreign direct investment inflow - balance of payments data	per cent of GDP	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.5	2.2	0.8			
	million ECU/€	710	838	735	1,151	3,647 b	1,416	173 JanMay ^b		
Sources: Eurostat. National sources. OECD external Debt Statistics										

a series break as a result of some technical changes to the definition.

b Source: Website of the National Bank. c Index not yet harmoni

in primate figure that the design from their lowes about a factor of the business, and a referror of the business, and a refer

Describe the blood from the blood print has been againsted below gaugitated below groups than been againsted below groups and duding to a marked duding to preven participation of the EU average in 2001. Labour market imbulances have increased in 9.0% was not been as about 17%. Actual imbulances between labour sources and demand minds the even history and the prevention of the EU average in 2001. Labour market imbulances have increased in 9.0% was not been as about 17%. Actual imbulances between labour sources and demand minds the even history and the prevention of the EU average in 2001. Labour market imbulances have increased. In 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to the event in 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to the event in 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to the event in 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to the event in 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to the event in 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to the event in 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to the event in 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to the event in 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to 1997 to 1997 to 8.5% in a marked duding to 1997 to 1997 to 1997 to 1997 to 1997 to 1997 to 1997 to 1997 to 1997 to 1997 to 1997 to 1997 to 1997 to 1997 t

Main Indicators of Economic Structure in 2001									
Population (average)	Thousand	68,618							
GDP per head ^a	PPS	5,200							
	per cent of EU average	22							
Share of agriculture ^b in: - gross value added - employment	per cent per cent	12.1 35.4							
Gross fixed capital formation/GDP	per cent	17.8							
Gross foreign debt of the whole economy/GDP c	per cent	47.7							
Exports of goods & services/GDP	per cent	33.2							
Stock of foreign direct investment	Million € € per head ^a	:							
Long term unemployment rate	per cent of labour force	1.8							

b Agriculture, hunting, forestry and fishing

Data refer to 2000.

Assessment in terms of the Copenhagen criteria

The existence of a functioning market economy

The esistence of a functioning market economy requires that prices, as well as trade, are liberalised and that an enforceable legal system, including property rights, is in place. Macroconomic stability and consensus about economic policy enhance the performance of a market economy. A well-developed financial sector and the absence of any significant harriers to market entry and exist improve the efficiency of the economy.

He formal consensa shour the constitute of comments of comments of the comment of the comment of comments of the comments of t

Ball CDP growth has low roy making a mount of process through Neverge (CDP) growth was at anound only 1% during 1997-2001, with annual growth miss consistent by 72% or average due to period. Yes consequent for the process of growth as seen of growth this control of growth as growth as the Service of growth as control of growth as growth as the Service of growth as the Service

The circum Januaris have remained largely in balance. Despite strong compare fluctuations, the current account inhabances remained larnicis, reaching a deficit of 2.5% of GDP when the economy was growing strongly in 2000 and a surplus, in 2007 of GDP shireger the result of 2002, the current account was close to balance. The approach between the current account inhabances contained to balance and the trade deficit amounted to about 0% of GDP shiring the 2001 necession. Duming the Einst Inf 2002, the current account was close to balance. The approach between the current account inhabances contained to balance and the trade deficit amounted to a bottom of GDP shiring the 2001 necession. Duming the Einst Inf 2002, the current account was close to balance. The approach between the current account the main source of foreign capital inflow was portfolio investment, which was summed by the high interest rate level. Public sector credits taken up on international markets also played an important part. This approach helped to reduce function count, the main source of foreign capital inflow was portfolio investment, which was summed by the high interest rate level. Public sector credits taken up on international markets also played an important part. This approach helped to reduce function count, the main source of foreign capital inflow was portfolio investment, which was summed by the high interest rate level. Public sector credits taken up on international markets also played an important part. This approach helped to reduce function and the trade deficit amounted to be a summed to the public sector for inflored to the

8.5%. Due for the first half of 2002 interactors a peak of 11.8% in the first quarter and a decline to 9.6% in the second quarter. In cural areas, unemployment remained relatively low, at around 4.5% on average with strong seasonal fluctuations. In urban areas, unemployment rates rose from 9.5% in 1997 to 14% in the first half of 2002. Youth unemployment fluctuations are not found 1.5% in 1997 to 14% in the first half of 2002. Youth unemployment fluctuations in the structuring in the banking sector and state-owned enterprises.

helped to one contains on some after the control of

Montany and exclusing rate policy shifted from a largely assumemaking policy stance in 1997 and 1998 to a pre-amounted carbange rate policy shifted from a largely assumemaking policy stance in 1997 and 1998 to a pre-amounted carbange rate constant, to a strategy of a pre-amounted exclusing rate policy while the framework of the 1997 consolidation programme, the Central Bank withched from its focus on maintaining the real exchanage rate constant, to a strategy of a pre-amounted exchanage rate policy with surface in the framework of the 1997 consolidation programme, the Central Bank withched from its focus on maintaining the real exchanage rate constant, to a strategy of a pre-amounted exchanage rate policy with surface in the framework of the monetary policy, which a large variety of the 1997 consolidation programme, and confined as well-as the confined of the monetary policy with a large variety of the 1997 consolidation programme, the Central Bank is becausing one policy manufactures. The programme is the programme is the programme in the programme is the programme in the programme in the programme is the programme in the programme in the programme is the programme in the programme in the programme is the programme in the programme in the programme is the programme in the programme in the programme is the programme in the programme in the programme is the programme in the programme in the programme is the programme in the programme in the programme is the programme in the prog

Attitute in adian material and a fine materials hadds finances have been characterized by a high and very volatile general government deficit, fluctuating between 075 and 28-475 of GDP. Besides one-off effects, such as the fined costs of carried to raise recomment, and the financial costs of the material topic costs in 1997 or of its structuring the backery gives a size in the financial cross in 2015, the most important entermate flower between 075 and 28-475 of GDP. Besides one-off effects, such as the financial cross described and a 2015 of GDP. When deducting interest range proposes, Tarkey has realized considerable principles and 2015 of GDP. When deducting interest range proposes, Tarkey has realized considerable principles and 2015 of GDP. Besides one-off effects of the three of the parties of the second of the parties of the second of the parties of the second of the parties of the parties of the second of the parties of the second of the parties of the partie

measures to chacke the version and to increase the efficiency of the tax administration have been addedpted. As a result, the share the remaining largely constant at around 20% of GDP.

Government this have into marked, thing the refinement period, largely, than it the finalisat arisin to According to the Discovering control of the extended to the remaining control of the depth excitation. The biggest impact on the delth even came from the depth excitation, the significant arisin and the finalisat arisin to the large three
description of the state of the

Fine 1999 answard, the Turkish authorities have made produced interpret to stabilise the consump. However, inherent economic instabilities - such as persistently high inflation and the systemic weaknesses in the financial sector - and external shocks - such as the Russian crisis in 1999 and when the consumply and the carthquakes in 1999 - impected attempts to stabilities be economy. After rapid success in early 2000 in echacing interest rates, insufficient political support for consol distinst programme ended confidence in the distinstination programme and led to a breakdown of this stabilisation effort. The largest programme, proposed confidence in the stabilisation programme and a more functional rapid support and on the stabilisation programme and of turbulent and programme and a more functional rapid support and a more functional rapid support and a more functional rapid support programme, proposed distinction programme, programme, programm

The five interplay of markst from the supposed. Due to Turkey's traditions of a state-guided development approach, state interventions and state-owned enterprises tended to play an important role in the economy, in particular in basic industries and in the banking sector. During the last 5 years, the political influence on state banks has been reduced, more prices are now based on supply and domand, and the liberalisation of important marks has started. A further mit step in increasing the nise of market forces for illuscriating carrier conomic resources has been the establishment of independent market regulation and compension narvealizance institutions. However, the process is not yet fully completed. State-owned enterprises are considered on the sector's sector is in the banking sector of the sector's condition and of state domainstance sector fully suspice, second enter still accommend greater all fusions considered in the sector of the sector's development. In many seas, these enterprises are recentified and infeficion. Process are only duply contracting quests to the manufacturing sector fully suspice greater, proceed asserts of the sector's have dead and for about 127 periods controlled and infeficion. Process are only duply controlled parties are fully process. In section of the sector's are fully process. The sector of the sector's are fully process. The sector of the sector's are fully process. The sector of the sector's are fully process. The sector of the sector's are fully process. The sector of the sector's are fully process. The sector of the sector's are fully process. The sector of the sector's are fully process. The sector of the sector of the sector's are fully process. The sector of the sector's are fully process. The sector of the sector's are fully process. The sector of the sector's are fully process. The sector of the sector's are fully process. The sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector's are fully process. The sector of the sector of the sector of

Print distartion have duffined. The system of agricultural support prices, which had led to major distortions in the price structure, has been largely eliminated. Prices for robacco and sugger are now determined by supply and demand instead of state purchasing agencies. Prices for energy and for products of many state enterprises are being increased in order to reflect better the real cost situation. However, energy prices are still subsidized as part of the products of many state enterprises are being increased in order to reflect better the real cost situation. However, energy prices are still subsidized as part of the products of many state enterprises are being increased in order to reflect better the real cost situation. However, energy prices are still subsidized as part of the products of many state enterprises are being increased in order to reflect better the real cost situation. However, energy prices are still subsidized as part of the products of many state enterprises are being increased in order to reflect better the real cost situation. However, energy prices are still subsidized as part of the products of many state enterprises are being increased in order to reflect better the real cost situation. However, energy prices are still subsidized as part of the products of many state enterprises are being increased in order to reflect the real cost situation. However, energy prices are still subsidized as part of the products of many state enterprises are being increased in order to reflect the real cost situation. However, energy prices are still subsidized as part of the products of many state enterprises are being increased in order to reflect the real cost situation. However, energy prices are stated as a state of the products of the products of the products of the products of the products of the products of the products of the products of the products of the products of the products of the products of the products of the products of the products of the products of the products of the products of

Doptic nation initiation in proceed with printing distances in proceed with printing-distances. Accumulated privatisation revenues since: 1985 amount to only about 39's of GDP. Net revenues from privatisation representations and a lack of interest from potential investors, recent attempts have bad very limited success. Accumulated privatisation revenues since: 1985 amount to only about 39's of GDP. Net revenues from privatisation tend to be even lower, given the considerable control

Burian is marks only and coil have less further in some of the less further in humbs only and coil have less further in humbs on the legisly flexibility of Turkish extrapreneums but also to a liberal negitine of market access. Nevertheless, there are still impediments to starting up new enterprises, in particular for SMIIs and for enterprises. Burnacuratic procedures are still complicated and time-consuming. Prohabitively high internal cord banks to provide extent of the SMIIs. However, progress has been achieved in enclaining remaining market burners. Formerly state-dominated areas, such as the markets for electricity, gas, tobacco, alcohol and sugar, are in the process of being opened up to macropation. In a protection for the principate of the humbsing record as whole in the humbsing record as whole in the humbsing record as whole in the humbsing record as whole in the humbsing record as whole in the humbsing record as a former of the humbsing records as a former of the humbsing records as a former of the humbsing records as a former of the humbsing records as a former of the humbsing records as a former of the humbsing records as a former of the hum

The Justi pass, including the regulation of property right, it is fight an Internet, the importance of the cast and implementation englations are very long and also imposed the effectiveness and predictability of the legal framework. Insufficient contractions of the cast and implementation englations are very long and also imposed the effectiveness and predictability of the legal framework. Insufficient contractions of the cast and implementation englations are very long and also imposed the effectiveness and predictability of the legal framework. Insufficient contractions of the extraction of the e

stanting as or transport of pasces personnen remon and consistency of the foreign

A major hashing critic composite in State State Control (1997) and the control (1997) and t

The capacity to cope with competitive pressure and market forces within the Union

The ability to fulfil this enterion depends on the existence of a market economy and a stable macroeconomic framework, allowing economic agents to make decisions in a climate of predictability. It also requires a sufficien outside finance and the more successful they are at restructuring and innovating, the greater will be their capacity to adapt. Overall, an economy will be better able to take on the obligations of membership the higher the deg

Lubour market polities are underdeveloped. Given Turkey's priority of macroecono However, this council has so far only met since its establishment in mid-2001.

Turkey has made progress on the functioning of its market economy which should improve its capacity to cope with competitive pressure and market forces within the Union, but is still undergo

After several attempts to stabilise the economy, the current reform programme is producing positive results and growth has resumed. Fiscal discipline has improved and the transpare being addressed. Financial market regulation and supervision have been strengthened. Important steps have been taken to liberalise key markets, such as agriculture and energy.

To improve the functioning of its markets and its competitiveness, Turkey needs to continue the present reform process in order to achieve memoreconomic stability and fixed sustainability. Further enducing chosically high adultson and minutaining fixed discipline are important personalisisms to this end. Productional and account state hands and exercisely the high adultson potential or the executive productive uses and the memorate developation competed and the meant developation competed and

Introduction

This section addresses the question of Turkey's ability to assume the obligations of membership – that is, the legal and inst rmore, it includes an evaluation of Turkey's track record since the Commission's 1998 Report on Turkey.

In December 1995, the Madrid European Council remarked on the need to create the conditions for the gradual, harmonious integration of the candidate countries, particularly through thimplementing it properly in the field, via the appropriate administrative and judicial structures. This is an essential precondition for creating the mutual trust indispensable for future membership

In June 2002, the Seville European Council repeated how important it was that candidate countries should continue to make progress with the implementat the present Report seeks to add furthe h and detail, focusing on the main administrative structures required for implementing the various aspects of the aug

"Turkey has shown its abelity to adopt and implement the bulk of the legislation stipulated in the Customs Union Decision by the deadlines. It must now show a six section aming noder neither the customs noison mer the European strategy, Turkey still has a long way to go regarding the adoption of the acquis.

While Turkey has undeniably shown that it has the administrative and legal capacity to apply the acquis in the context of the customs union, it is not possible at this sta

As regards transport policy, Turkey should step up the legislative work necessary to adopt the Community transport acquis. The administrative capacity to apply

The Accession Partnership with Turkey was adopted inMarch 2001 and Turkey has made s the short term Accession Partnership priorities related to the acquis."

As indicated, the following review of Turkey's ability to assume the obligations of membership has been structured in accordance with the list including sectoral policies, economic and fiscal affairs, regional policy, environment, justice and home affairs, external policies, and financial qui

Progress since the last Regular Report

Since the last Regular Report, Turkey has made further progress in alignment with the improve ment in free movement of goods is therefore limited.

EC directives have been transposed in the field of pressure vessels.

As for public procurement, a new law on public procurement was adopted in January 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in January 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in January 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in January 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in January 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in January 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in January 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in January 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in January 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in January 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in January 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in January 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in January 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in January 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in January 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in June 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in June 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in June 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002. It is expected to enter into force in June 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002 and subsequently amended in June 2002 and subse

Overall assessment

In the framework of the Decision of the EC-Turkey Association Council on implem

rision of price preferences (15%) for domestic bidders are also we a certain threshold, further limits market access for EC goods (Article 63).

fficulties with custing obstacles to trade buriers have lingured. Further progress was noted with the adoption of a number of pieces of legislation related to horizontal measures. Turkey has accelerated work on the transposition of the aquities to the ten to force after clong transition periods. Moreover, there are also considerable deficiencies in terms of administrative capacity for the enforcement of the harmonical legislation on both horizontal and sectoral aspects. This results in iterfit to records full almost experts.

Progress since the last Regular Report

There has been no progress in the area of mutual recognition of profess

Overall assessment

In the area of mutual recognition of professional qualit

Different institutions are responsible for authorising accessimpler procedures allowing for the provision of services.

Progress since the last Regular Report

Overall assessment

The possibility for foreigners to provide non-financial services in Turkey remains subject to substantial obstacles in a necountry of origin. Much work remains to be done to align Turkish legislation with the acquir in this respect.

The previous Regular Report reported that the CMB ena which is narrower than that in the EC.

The Capital Market Board (CMB) is entitled to set the standards for prospectuses on fir prospects and consolidated accounts of the issuer, and information about guarantors.

There are also differences with respect to certain pu Collective Investments Transferable Securities).

Regarding financial intermediation, Turkish banks are only permitted to engage in equity trading at the Stock Exchange through subsidiary brokenage firms. In the field of insurance, specific restrictions to exclude foreigners from the marke in line with the requirements of the auguit. Maintaining the reinsurance monopoly is in clear contradiction with the auguit. Furthermore, ex ante turiff control should be abolished in order to align with the in-market control system in the EC.

Since 1998, progress has been achieved in the area of financial services, and in particular in strengthening ad acquir. However, in areas such as investment services and insurance, substantial efforts are still needed.

Progress since the last Regular Report

As regards administrative capacity, the CMB is the regulatory and monitoring authority of the securities and investment markets. The CMB is CMB. The CMB consists of a seven-member Board and has a t otal staff of 410 persons (21 managers, 202 experts and 186 auxiliary staff).

In the field of capital movements and payments, a comprehensive reform programme aiming at me

Overall assessment

Regulations concerning the acquisition of real estate by non-nationals (foreign natural persons) and foreign legal persons exist. The ac Acquisitions over 30 hectares are su bject to the permission from the Council of Ministers.

Reagrding payment systems, the whole aquis (Directives on cross-border credit transfers and on settlement finality, Record

As regards administrative capacity, Turkey has a functioning financial intelligence unit, the Financial Crimes Investigation Board, with a staff of over 1000. Since 1991, Turkey has been the only candidate approximately € 250 million. Overall, the Board needs t ade its paper-based information system and investigation procedures. The implementation of a financial intelligence database is highly recommended.

In its 1998 Report, the Commission concluded that, although Turkey had introduced relatively liberal arrangements in the area of free movement of capital, restrictions were still in place on certain transactions. This applies 1999, which also highlighted the establishment of the real time gross settlement system (RTGS). The need for an authorisation for foreigness intending to invest in Turkey was underlined as a shortcoming to be corrected

Progress since the last Regular Report

Since the last Regular Report, Turkey has made further progress in the f

As regards accounting, the Capital Market Board (CMB) has issued two Go established. Its role is to determine and publish national accounting standards

The latest developments in the legislative aspects of intellectual and industrial property rights (IPR) in 2001 and early 2002 show Text of the Hague Agreement on Internation al Registration of Industrial Designs and WIPO Trademark Law Treaty.

Overall assessment

Pracy and counterfeiting remains a serious problem in Turkey. The level of pincy was for example reported by private industry sources to be 58% in the field of software of copyright and related rights. Turkey has established an institute on intellectual property rights as well as courts specialised in intellectual property matters in Istanbul. A pro awareness raising campaigns. These meas ures are appreciated, but both legislative and border enforcement must be further strengthened.

In its Report of 1998, the Commission noted that a considerable amount of harmonisation had already been achieved as regards industrial and intellectual property rights. As regards company law, it noted that a certain level of harmonisation had been achieved and that completing it would not represent any difficultie the administrative capacity and enforcement of legicl ation continued to be insufficient. The fight against princy was still not sufficiently effective and remained a matter of concern. More capacity-building and training as well as more inter-institutional co-operation by the police, customs offices and courts was required.

Since 1998, Turkey has made significant progress with respect to its leg must be substantially improved.

Turkey should focus further efforts on accelerating work concerning the alignment of company law and accounting. Concerning intellectual property rights, Turkey is encouraged to est related milieus including the establishment of a copyright information centre, take measures to combat piracy and other infringements and represent the country in international fora. Fu

Progress since the last Regular Report

The difficulties concerning the position of the TEKEL monopoly rep

Overall assessment

The Report of 1998 recognised that Turkey had made great efforts to align with 0 establish a state aid authority was raised. In 2001 the same conclusi ons were dra

Progress since the last Regular Report

ture in Turkey accounted for 12,1 % of gross value added in 2001, as compared to 13.6% in 2000. Just over one third (35.4%) of the Turkish labour force

In 2001, overall agricultural trade between Turkey and the EC showed mixed tendencies. EC imports of agricultural products originating in Turkey increased by 14 % to € 2,188 million. EC exports to Turkey de fats, beverages, spirits and vinego oxids from the EC.

The Turkish Government has continued to implement the agricultural policy reform, which and credit subsidies; and the privatis te-owned enterprises such as food industries.

Cadastral work on rural areas has been progressing. It now covers about 85% of the rural areas. 10% of cadastral maps are now digitised. Further

Seven implementing regulations were adopted following the adoption of the animal breeding law in March 2001. These regulations relate to embryo and sperm p

itiws, progress is limited to the publication of a circular withdrawing the authorisation for use of anti-coccidiostats as additives in animal feed.

Overall assessment

Takey is do sked to sup up implementation efforts concerning animal disease coursed facilitation for the preparatory rathey). In particular, it is necessary to establish OIII standard in diagnosis and text methods, to increase analysis capacity or textinary laboratories and to achieve their accrediation. Improvements in vaccion quality control and production are agreed.

A diseases need to be completed and nextend, be increase analysis capacity or textinary laboratories and to achieve their accrediation. Improvements in vaccion quality control and production are agreed and nextended, to increase analysis capacity or textinary laboratories and to achieve their accrediation. Improvements and nextender the complete and nextended, be increased and their control and their complete and nextended to a complete and nextended, their control and their complete and nextended, their control and their complete and nextended, their control and their complete and nextended to a complete and nextended to their complete and nextended to their complete and nextended to their complete and nextended to their control and their complete and nextended to their complete and nextended to their complete and nextended to their complete and nextended to their control and their complete and nextended to their complete

As regards institutional reform, the number of the authorities overseeing agriculture, forestry and rural development, their organisational complexity and the diverse geographic co-development policies difficult. A phased and gradual inter-institutional reorganisation is required to make these authorities more efficient.

Food affect counts in Tarkey require much entirectioners. Taking coveral procedures do not sufficiently causer that food complex with the food affect, you shadeds exhibited in the again. More training of expossible, difficially, harmonisation and standardission of sampling and resing procedures and implementation or explained may be extracted as a substance of the again. More training of report affect by the procedure is a substance of the again and the procedure is not accordant and hypotic improvements for executionisation need to start.

Progress since the last Regular Report

Overall assessment

Progress since the last Regular Report

Since the last Regular Report, only limited progress has been made in this area

Turkey should focus further efforts on continuing its agricultural policy reform process, in particular the implementation of the direct income support scheme and the crop substitution scheme, as well as the restructuring of co-op Work should start on the establishment of a plant passport system. The alignment of veterinary and plant health legislation, including the establishment of appropriate administrative structures, with the aquisi should be accelerated.

According to 2001 statistics under the Paris Memorandum of Understanding, the percentage of Turkish flag vessels detained following Port State control was 24.5%, a further increase compared with 2000 (23.8%) and comparable to the level of 1999 (24.5%). This compares with an average for EU-flagged vessels of 3.1% in 2001.

Overall assessment

The conditions prevailing in the part of the road transport market engaged in international transport operations are very different from those for domestic operations. The regime applying to finetenational moal transport is already substantially aligned with the EC requirements on market access, environmental norms, tachographs and speed limitation devices. However, such legislation does not fully apply to the domestic operations. The regime applying to finetenational moal transport is already substantially aligned with the EC requirements on market access, environmental norms, tachographs and speed limitation devices. However, such legislation does not fully apply to the domestic operation of the Beach aligned and the expension of the Beach access to market and admission to the profession (nales for which were adopted in 1996 but which have never been implemented), but also address other aspects of the moal transport capatry principally the first, technical and safety again.

On manisme safety, substantial parts of the acquis still need to be transposed and further efforts need to be made in the impler Understanding on Port State Control. Flag State obligations remain the highest priority for Turkey.

Ratification of the IMO conventions to which Turkey is a party should be completed. Turkey is encouraged to take further steps to sign and ratify other major IMO conventions. However, this can only be considered as a very first step in the port temporation and underprenation of the EE cap > which do not pilled undermittedly from It than it is a reprinty. The Turkeis including the pilled printy in Immers as a discipled plant with the wind pilled pairs with the wind pilled printing the Turkey.

The Under Scentariat of Marine Affairs is the administrative authority for all marinem transport matters, including marinem supery and slep registration. Currently, two classification societies faine UACS members together with the Turkish Lloyd) have been authorities toree, respectively. Taking into answer the marks had of the post authorities (which is hearier than that in most of the Member States since all services and formalities are provided by these authorities free of durgy, the number of staff is insufficient to properly cover all tacks of the post authorities.

Progress since the last Regular Report

In the field of indirect taxation, a law on VAT was adopted in December 2001. It eliminated double taxation on the supply of services in connection with imports where the value of such services is provision allowing for VAT refunds to foreign taxable persons not established within Turkey, on a reciprocal basis. The VAT rates of 26% and 40% were abolished, in accordance with the acquis:

In June 2002 an amendment to the excise duty legislation was introduced, whereby the scope of excise duties was algreed, and a specific duty for mineral olis and ad valorem duties for tobacco products and alcoholic products were introduced. Concerning mineral beverages, the amendment constitutes an improvement but further alignment is needed as concerns the structure and scope of the duty. Moreover, the duty may be increased substantially for certain products, which may result in discrimination against certain products.

Overall assessment

Turkey has achieved substantial progress on indirect taxation, in particular as regards the abolition of the 26 and 40% VAT rates and the introduct in the collection of taxes and therefore constitutes a welcome development. Turkey now needs to ensure its effective application. oduced in 2000, the Turkish legislation is partially aligned with the EU acquis. He

mission's Report of 1998 pointed out the limited alignment with the aquis, in particular in the area of indirect taxation, both for VAT and for the scope and rate of excise duties and consur

re and rates of VAT and exci

Progress since the last Regular Report

A detailed assessment of the visious spects of Tribely's consomic perior, but been given above, in the chapter discussing the economic entries in E. Therefore, the present section is limited to a discussion of those appears of the Zonomic and Mentary Vision again; — as defined by Talk VII of the E.T. Trany and the other relevant texts — which go the central bank. As to the process of the Zonomic and Mentary Vision again; — as defined by Talk VII of the E.T. Trany and the other relevant texts — which go the central bank. As to the process of the Zonomic and Mentary Vision again; — as defined by Talk VII of the E.T. Trany and the other relevant texts — which go the Central bank. As to the process of the Zonomic and Mentary Vision again; — as defined by Talk VII of the E.T. Trany and the other relevant texts — which go the Central bank. As to the process of the Zonomic and Mentary Vision again; — as defined by Talk VII of the E.T. Trany and the other relevant texts — which go the Central bank. As to the process of the Zonomic and Mentary Vision again; — as defined by Talk VII of the E.T. Trany and the other relevant texts — which go the Central bank. As to the process of the Zonomic and Mentary Vision again. — as defined by Talk VII of the E.T. Trany and the other relevant texts — which go the Central bank. As to the process of the Zonomic and Mentary Vision again. — as defined by Talk VII of the E.T. Trany and the other relevant texts — which go the VII of the E.T. Trany and the characteristic of the VII of the E.T. Trany and the Central bank. As to the process of the Zonomic and the Central bank. As to the process of the Zonomic and the Central bank. As to the process of the Zonomic and the Zonomic tion of the EMU-related asswis

rohibition of privileged access of the public sector to financial institutions, no progr

On the independence of the Central Bank, no further pro-

Overall assessment

tus of a country with derogation under Article 122 of the EC Treaty, and it will need to in Turkey has started to implement the Central Bank law. The law is a major step forward in so far as it grants increased independence to the Central Bank of Turkey. However, the determination of the inflation target is still decided in agreement with the

ing demographic and social statistics, the SIS has recently made some amendments to minimise differences between ILO and Eurostat variables in the Labour Force Survey. A continuous ho

As regards the prohibition of direct public sector financing by the Central Bank, the new Central Bank law includes a general prohibition of direct public sector financing. However, in exceptional cases, such as for the financing of the state's expenses in bailing out banks taken over by the SDIF, this possibility still remain

ission Report of 1998 stated that the Central Bank of Turkey (CBT) was not independent of the Government. Under the CBT Act, most pokey decisions on monetury matters were being taken by the Government or jointly with the Government. Nor was Turkey complying with the Treaty on the issue of Central Bank Fanancing of the Government or for the Government or jointly with the Government. Nor was Turkey complying with the Treaty on the issue of Central Bank Fanancing of the budget by the Central Bank. Nevertheless, limits on the operations of insurance companies provide the public sector with preferential access to financing through the

Turkey should focus further efforts on further aligning the Central Bank law with the aspair as far as the determination of the inflation target concerned. Other amendments are als decision to dismiss its members should be considered. Although they are not applied, the provisions allowing direct funancing of the budget by the Central Bank should be removed

Progress since the last Regular Report

In the field of statistical infrastructure, the State Institute of Statistics (SIS) is well staffed and the IT equipment is of good qu

As regards classifications, the SIS has started, this year, to produce morably and quarterly production data using PRODCOM (Products of the European Community). Eurostat has approved the Turkish proposal for the de activities and commodities based on the International Standard Industrial Classification (ISIC) to the General Industrial Classification of Economic Activities in the European Communities (NACE) is ongoing.

Overall assessment

As regards classifications, implementation of the da needed.

In the area of macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics, the macro-economic statistics and the statistics and the statistics are statistics.

Since then, Turkey has been incorporated in some areas into the data collection mechanisms of the European Statistical System. The SIS is setting up the relevant tools to bring the official statistics in line with European Comm

Progress since the last Regular Report Overall, only limited progress can be reported since the last Regular Report.

rning equal treatment for women and men in working life, limited progress has been made in transposing the EC, aquic. The Job Security Act, which was adopted in August 2002, includes a po

As regards social dialogue, Turkey has repealed the provision on the ten-year ban on strikes, lock-outs and mediation in free trade zones in the framework of the reforms adopted in August 2002.

Major problems continue to cair with regard to employment. Average unemployment rose from 6.6% in 2000 to 8.5% in 2000 to 8.5% in 1800 to 40 or but based continue to cair with regard to employment areas and high levels of youth and feef frend unemployment are set the min of the formal encountry are the min of the formal encountry one of the formal encountry of the ent Organisation (ISKUR) started to work on the background study for the Employment Policy Review. This will form the basis of a Joint Assessment Paper to be drawn up jointly with the European Co

As a follow-up to the Gothenburg European Council, where the EU invited the candidate countries to translate the EU objectives into their national policies, the Commission and Turkey are in the responses. The Stati stical Office of Turkey co-operates with Eurostat to produce data on poverty and social exclusion. Preliminary figures suggest that overall income dispatrites seem to be rather high.

There has been no development in the field of disabled people

Overall assessment

In the field of labour law, progress is required with regard to collective redundancies, transfers of undertakings, insolvency, working time, fixed-term and part-time work, you transpose the latest a quie related to the involvement of workers in the European Company and to information and consultation of workers. ent (12-17 age group) fell by 17.3% in December 2001 compared with December 2000 figures, and was estimated at 893000 children. The fact that the number has decreased in speciform the duties assigned to it. A draft law on child labour has been prepared aiming at a partial transposition of the Community aquis on the protection of young people at work

In the field of equal treatment for women and men, the new Civil Code represents an important landmark in establishing women's rights. Effective enforcement of its provisions is now needed, including recent developments in relevant case I the Court of Justice. Turkey still needs to transpose the Community again related both to statutory and to occupational social security schemes.

health, there has been substantial progress in the control of communicable diseases. There have been no reported cases of polio in Turkey for the past three years as a result of if stry of Health is wing the World Health Organisation (WHO) control strategies. In 2001, 40 MDDs and 144 HIV positive cases were reported. These figures are higher than in past of the design of the past of the distribution of the design of th

Turkey should speal up its efforts to derelop a national employment policy in line with the European Employment Strategy. In this context, it is disappe combat the high level of unemployment in the country should be strengthened as a matter of priority.

A national integrated strategy on promoting social inclusion, taking into account the EU objecticommonly agreed indicators on social inclusion.

Since 1998, Turkey has achieved limited progress. Measures have been adopted to promote equal tre

Progress since the last Regular Report

cular developments can be reported with respect to alignment with the acquis on security of supply and oil stocks.

As to the general policy for strengthening of the energy supply security, Turkey has taken steps to further diversify its supply resources and to strengthen its role as a transit country for the east-west transcript in Black See is ongoing and scheduled to be operational by the end of this year. With respect to the Captual-Mediterranean oil populars, the engineering words are at information. Continuing, Construction of the contraction of the intercornaction of the intercornaction of this hand offced electricity trans-

A total of 426 staff is foreseen. Some 100 people (most of them technical specialists) have so far been recruited through te million

In the oil sector, public ownership in the oil products' distribution company (POAS) has been reduced to 25.8% through further privatis

of oil and gas. The gas transportation pipeline that connects Turkey and Iran has been completed and gas delivenes to Turkey started in December 2001. The construction of the Blue Stream gas pipeline connecting Turkey with matted to start in the second half of 2002. In March 2002, the formerly state-owned company, BOTAS, and its Greek counterpart, DEPA, signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) for the interconnection of their gas

Regarding competitiveness and the internal energy market important progress was made in the reporting period. On the basis of the 2001 Electricity Market Law, the ele-eligible customers to import from producers outside Turkey, as well as for generators to export power to customers outside Turkey, have not been lifted.

Following the unbundling of the Turkish Electricity Generation and Transmission Corporation (TEAS), three newly established companies (generation, transmission company in the sector

The 2001 Gas Market Law sets the minimum annual consumption limit for being qualified as an eligible consumer to 1 million cubic metres. This corres (EMRA).

No particular developments can be reported with regard to solid fuels, energy efficiency or renewable energies

Overall assessment

The Gas Market Law also envisages the privatisation of the gas distribution sector. According to the 2002 pri

Turkey's energy policy envisages increased use of gas in power generation and for heating purposes. Gas deshould closely regulate the access to the transmissio em operated by BOTAS.

With regard to the administrative capacity of the regulatory authority, the budgeting, staffing and salary levels are crucial elements. Due consideration should be give prevented the Authority from recruiting new staff he private sector. The competence of the staff should be improved, in particular as regards market regulation matter

With the establishment of the EMRA, the role of the Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources has been limited to the deterneed to be paid to the level of state aid to the hard coal industry. Compliance with the relevant state aid asymmets to be ens

Turkey should continue to give energy efficiency due attention. It should take appropriate steps to exploit the existing energy conservation potential, which is estimated to be 40%. Priority should be given to the construction sector. In particular, the adoption of new norms for instalation standards and for new buildings will continue to the time. Within the scope of ensuing compliance by Turkey with Eurotom requirements and procedure, due attention should continue to be given to the construction of the implementation of Eurotom market sufeguards, in particular regarding the reporting of nuclear material flows and inventories made directly by the persons or and universities, hospitals and medical particus is though the world that Turkey has conducided at Agreement with the LINEA.

Turkey should focus further efforts on completing the legislative, administrative and e the administrative capacity of the regulatory bodies w hile ensuring their independence

Progress since the last Regular Report

The Government has continued to concentrate its efforts on stabilising Turkey's ma

With regard to Turkey's steel restrue year. 2 million tonnes will be flat p>

Overall assessment

Turkish industrial policy is by and large in conformity with the principles of EC industrial policy. Hos programme and time frame s. It is recommended that the paper be given a more formal status.

Progress since the last Regular Report

On the development of an SME policy, in April 2002, Turkey endorsed the Ex the European Charter in Turkey started in May 2002.

nains an important obstacle to the development of Turkish SMEs. There have been limited efforts to improve the fun

Overall assessment

There is a need to develop a common SME definition aligned with the acquir. The coming transposition of the SME definition will have to take into acc

Progress since the last Regular Report

In June 2002, the Turkish Grand National Assembly approved the Law to allow full participation in the Sexth EC Framework Programme on Research and Technological Development. I awareness-raising activities, and to provide advice, assistance and training for potential participants in the Sexth EC Framework Programme on Research and Technological Development.

Overall assessment

Progress since the last Regular Report

In January 2002 a Decree of the Council of Ministers established a Department for the European Union Education and Youth programmes within the State Planning Organisation. Severy Youth. An amendment to the Law on the establishment and mission of the State Planning Organisation is under preparation to give it legal status and the required operational efficiency.

No developments can be reported concerning the transposition of the Directive concerning education of children of migrant workers.

As regards reform of the education and training system, the Government started implementing measures to increase the length of comp

With regard to administrative capacity, Turkey has a rather centralised education system. The Government started implementing the provisions of the law consisting of clusters of vocational high and secondary school s and the creation of Vocational Education Councils at national and provincial levels.

Overall assessment

Turkey still needs to transpose the Directive concerning education of children of mig

As regards Community programmes, the establishment of a Department within the State Planning Organisation to deal with preparatory measures for the Socrates, Leonardo da V respective responsibilities. The work plans for preparatory measures should be rapidly finalised with a view to speeding up Turkey's full participation in the programmes in 2004.

The principles of the Turkish education system are generally consistent with those in the EU. How up efforts to improve the attendance rate of poo rer pupils, in particular in disadvantaged regions. The Government should pursue its efforts for effective implementation of reform measures in both basic educatio of the vocational schools remain the major issues to be addressed to increase the efficiency of the education system

Progress since the last Regular Report

Turkey has made little progress since the last Regular Rej

As regards the regulatory framework, a Decision of the Council of Ministers on minimum fees for licences and general authorisations we pted in February 2002. Two licences for Global Mobile Personal Con

Further to the launch of eEurope+ in June 2001, policy studies and projects related to the Information Society have gain

Overall assessment

With regard to market liberalisation for mobile telephony, the refusal by the incumbent GSM operators Turkeell and Telsimto to interconnect with new market entrants is a major obstacle to the implementation of the aquit concerning national roaming agreements between GSM mobile telephony operators was not sufficient, the relevant provisions of the Telecommunications Law of February 2000 need to be amended in order to solve this issue.

Progress since the last Regular Report

As for the identification and exchange of best practice together with benchmarking, Turkey participated in the preparation of the C. BEST Report that mirrors the "Report on the Implementation of the Action Plan to Promote Enterpresensably (ARIA) for 2010-2010. In the Action Content of the Enterpresensably (ARIA) for 2010-2010. In the 100-2011 content of the Enterpresensably (ARIA) for 2010-2010. In the 100-2011 content of the Enterpresensably (ARIA) for 2010-2010. In the 100-2011 content of the Enterpresensably (ARIA) for 2010-2010. In the 100-2011 content of the Enterpresensably (ARIA) for 2010-2011 content of the Enterpresensably (ARIA) for 2010-2011 content of the 2010-2011 content of the Enterpresensably (ARIA) for 2010-2011 content of the Enterpresensably (AR

In the field of audio-visual policy, the Law amending the broadcasting law (RTÜK Law), which was vetoed by the President in Jun B.1 – Political Criteria). The law wa equently amended by the Parliament in August 20/02 as part of the third reform package. A new

Overall assessment

Serious concerns are nisted by the provisions of the law related to retransmission since, under Article 4 of the European Convention on Transfrontier Television, ratified by Turkey, the retransmission of foreign programme services cannot be restricted if they core comply with the requirements of Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights, which guarantees freedom to receive and impart information and ideas ... regardless of frontiers! The restrictions applied to foreigness are incompatible with the aquir.

cannot be restricted if they comply with the min

Moreover, the contradictions between Turkey's international commitments in the GATS/WTO framework and those that arise from its commitment to full implementation of the Community again remain

Since 1998, Turkey has achieved further progress. However, alignment with the acquis in this area remains limited. While the new amendment to the broadcasting law (RTÜK) includes very

Turkey should focus further efforts on aligning its legislation with relevant EC and international standards and in particular, on amending its broadcasting law (RTÜK).

Progress since the last Regular Report

Limited progress has been achieved in preparing for the implementation of a regional policy in line with EC structural policies.

Regarding territorial organisation, the definition by Turkey of a provisional map for regional development purposes according to NUTS classification or No developments can be reported concerning the adoption of the legislative framework, which would facilitate the implementation of the aquis under this chapte

Overall assessment

Turkey still needs to develop the structures ssary for the organisation and the implementation of the structural policies. Since combating regional disparities in Turkey should be a major objective, a more co

Priority should be given to the formulation of an efficient and modernised regional policy that complies with Community standards and addresses the major issues in regions lagging behind. This would imply:

In addition, enhancing regional policy will require a significantly higher level of public investment in the regions lagging behind, aiming, interalia, at reducing infrastructure dispanties, creating a favou

As regards administrative capacity, Turkish regional policy is still carried out in the framework of a centralised planning system, for which the State Pla comprehensive approach to reduce regional disp arities, in particular to improve the situation in the South-East.

In its 1998 Report, the Commission concluded that it was difficult to assess Turkey's performance in the field or the con GDP/cap lagged well behind the Community d recommended that an effective structural policy should be implemented.

Turkey should focus further efforts on developing an integrated regional planning system, to be set up for each NUTS 2 unit, by inaccession and structural funds in the area of regional development.

Progress since the last Regular Report

With regard to the integration of environmental considerand Organised Industrial Areas adopted in January 2002.

As regards waste management, air and water quality, no progress can be reported.

In the field of nature protection, the Regulation on the Implementation of the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wall Plans and Frame (TITES Convention operated in Protection of National Conference on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wall Plans and Frame (TITES Convention operated in Plans 2012. A Conference on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wall Plans and Endanger

Are Regulation on Environmental Impection (BLI) unrest into force in Junuary 2002. It represents a positive upon two productions of the contract of the production of the prod

Overall assessment

Steps have been taken in the field of horizontal legi-

In the field of air quality, Turkish legislation needs to be aligned with the aquis, and the Turkish air quality monitoring system needs to be upgraded.

ons related to nature protection, full harmonisation has still not been achieved. A framework law on

The principle of integration requires continuous attention both at national and at Community level. Turkey needs to continue integrating environmental prot

The Ministry of Environment (MoE) made significant progress in strequipment, are needed.

In its 1998 Report, the Commission noted that despite progress made in the adoption of legislation, conservation schemes and institutional machinery, the standard of environmental protection in Turkey remained a matter of important areas, efforts could be noted with regard to waste, air and water protection, nature conservation and environmental impact assessments. It was indicated that implementation of the law had met serious obstacles Since the 1998 Report, Turkey has made limited progress in transposing the Community aquit in the field of environment. The main progress is linked to the adopted. In a few sectoral areas, such as chemical le gislation, some limited progress can be reported. In 2002, progress was more substantial as described above.

Progress since the last Regular Report

On safety related measures, a law on the preparation and implementation of technical legislation on products or in this direction. A Fourth Consumer Court has been established in Ankara, in addition to three set up previously

Overall assessment

The Directorate General for the Protection of Consumers and Competition established under the Ministry of Trade and Industry is the authority with primary responsibility concerning consumer issues. It employs 77 staff.

Arbitration Committees for Consumer Problems have been established in 931 locations (81 provinces and 850 districts), and they have started settling disputes between consumers and suppliers. The representatives of consestablished and are operating in the provinces of Istanb and Izmir. As for the other provinces, the Commercial Courts and General Civil Courts are provisionally authorised to act until specialised consumer courts have been es

Up to 150 complaints have been received by the Board of Advertisement since October 2001 and a total of approximately € 2 million in fines has been collected. The Board has been operational for 7 years and sets the print of the publication or broadcasting of such advertisements mouncements. The Board, which consists of 18 members representing public institutions, universities, professional chambers and consumer organisations, conven

The Report of 1998 stated that the adoption of outline consumer protection legislation in 1995 was a significant step towards alignment with the aquio. However, a list of directives had only been partially transposed whereas other protection has proceeded at a s ce in almost all areas and substantial work still needs to be done. Overall, alignment of the Turkish consumers' legislation with the aquio remains limited and the implementation capacity is insufficient

Progress since the last Regular Report Overall, some progress has been achieved during the past year.

On external borders, the extension of the responsibilities of the Land Forces Command in the protection of green borders to the south and south-east of the country has con for the protection of 387 km of the Iraqii borde maining 90 km of the Iranian border remains with the Gendarmeric.

In the area of migration, following the entry into force of the agreement between Turkey and Greece on co-operation in combating crime, terrorism, allcid drug trafficing and illegal migration in July 2001, a protocol on readmission implementing Article 8 of the agreement was signed in November 2001. The protocol was ratified by Turkey and Greece respectively in April and in August. For third country nationals, this protocol gives the parties 14 days to inform each other of the number of persons to be returned after the date of allegal purty. For animal soor of the two countries the sundiness of the two countries the sundiness of the two countries the sundiness of the protocol. This post-one of the protocol This post-one of the protocol This post-one of the protocol This post-one of the protocol This post-one of the protocol does not precisely the date of the protocol does not precisely the date of the protocol This post-one Then is one progress with egand to readmission. Agant from the November 2001 protocol on readmission between Turkey and Greece, billeard negociations with a number of countries, both of destination and origin, for readmission agreements are underway. The readmission agreement are underway. The readmission agreement are underway. The readmission agreement are underway. The readmission agreement are underway. The readmission agreement are underway. The readmission agreement are underway. The readmission agreement are underway. The readmission agreement are underway. The readmission agreement are underway. The readmission agreement are underway. T

The number of law enforce months of 2002.

Turkish sources report that as a result of the increased fight against illicit trafficking of goods, around € 102 million worth of smuggled goods, fuel oil, drugs, eigarettes an on Europol has been establi he coordination of the office of the Legal Advisor at the Ministry of the Interior. However, the working group is not yet fully operational.

In January 2002 a government decree was issued on an Action Plan for Enhancing Transparency and Good Governance in the Public Sector, which aims to improve public and the judiciary to combat corruption. It also lays down the basic paths to improve the efficiency of the fight against corruption (ne also action B.1.1.—Publical orients)

Overall assessment

Concerning administrative capacity, Turkey needs to strengthen its efficiency in the fight against illegal migration and trafficking in human beings as well as co-operation with Member States and third countries. Despite the ex

Turkey needs to enhance its capacity to handle readmission in preparation for the implementation of the draft agreements submitted to a large number of countries, for which Turkey is either a transit or a destination country, as well as ex of 2012, 20167 illegal migrants were expelled. With respect to readmission, Turkey needs to improve its existing cooperation with Member States of the EU, in particular the implementation of the readmission protocol with Greece.

As regards administrative capacity, the setting up of an independent appeal procedure continues to be an important requir In the area of police co-operation and the fight against organised crime, Turkey is encouraged to ratify the 2000 UN Convention Against Transvised to ensure, inter-alia, enhanced co-operation between the different law enforcement bodies.

In the area of drugs, Turkey is reviewing its national policy on drugs and has started the negotiations for accession to the EMCDDA.

Turkey is encouraged to sign the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement on Illicit Traffic by Sea Implementing Article 17 of the 1995 UN Vie

Turkey should start to prepare the alignment of its legislation with the 1995 Convention on the Protection of the European Communities' Financial In

The National Focal Point should be strengthened in terms of expertise and administrative capacity to enable it to fully participate in the RELITOX net As regards money laundering, since 1991 Turkey has been a member of the Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering (FATF).

In its 1998 Report, the Commission called on Turkey to develop active cooperation with the European Union on immigration, to lift its geographical reservation on the 1951 Geneva Convention and to adopt a number of legislative provisions on

Since that time, Turkey has taken encouraging steps to intensify its fight against illegal migration and has improved in cooperation with the European Union and Member States in this area. Turkey still retains its geographical reservation on the Gene amendments were immediated to the Perul Code and related legal ation. Overall, Turkey is still in the intail stages of alignment with the acquise in the field of patiest and home affairs.

Progress since the last Regular Report

necerning administrative capacity, the project on the modernisation of the Turkish Customs is progressing. Certain Customs offices were merged or closed down; the number of Regional Direct reased from 36 to 16. The GCMSRS Security Systems for Customs C backgroints) project was launched in November 2001 to improve facilities at customs posts, siter alia, for controlling rade in motor vehicles and cultural goods and detecting nuclear materials. Budgetary appropriations necessary for the purchase of two customs enforcement boats have been provided. Preparations are under way to a marked of training customs are engaging.

Overall assessment

The Decision establishing the Castoms Union requires Tudey to align its commercial and customs policies with those of the Community. Turky has almost completed the alignment with the Common Customs Turiff and the customs legislation is largely aligned with the Community.

The Decision establishing the Castoms Union requires Tudey to align its commercial and customs policies with those of the Community.

Community.

Good progress has been made in the area of computerisation, as a major part of the customs formalities are already conducted electronically

Progress since the last Regular Report

A Free Trade Agreement with Groatia was signed in March 2002. The first joint technical committee meeting for coorduding a free trade age Two regulations have been adopted allowing for the implementation of bilaterial agreements between Turkey and Romania and Bolgaria resp

There have been no developments in the area of GATS.

In the field of **development aid** and **humanitarian aid**, Turkey has contributed to inte economy. $\in 20,6$ mergency aid and $\in 24,200$ as project and programme aid.

Overall assessment

A large degree of convergence exists between the EC and Turkey in the area be initiated despite th e efforts made by Turkey.

The application of a generalized system of preferences (GSP) regime remains different from the one of the EU, and efforts to comply with EU rules should be accelerated.

Turkey has so far entered into free trade agreements with the EFTA countries, Israel, Hungary, Romania, Lithuania, Estonia, the Czech Republic, Si in aligning its regulations with the auguic. On export credits to companies, Turkey still has to align its legislation with the EU auguic.

Since 1998, some further progress has taken place in further aligning Turkey's commercial policy with that of the EC.

Turkey should focus further efforts on ensuring alignment with the regime of the Generalised System of Preferences.

Progress since the last Regular Report

urkey has continued to position its foreign and security policy in line with that of the European Union

The regular enhanced political dialogue established as part of the pre-accession strategy with Turkey has continued during the reporting period. Turkey has played a constructive role within the framework of the Common Foreign and Security Policy |
Turkey is monitoring closely the development of the European Security and Defence Policy (ISDP) as part of the CISP, and has actively participated in exchanges on this subject with the EU, in both EU + 15 format (i.e. non-EU European NATO reoperations using NATO assets as part of the European Security and Defence Policy has remained unresolved.

Turkey has aligned itself with decisions, resolutions and declarations of the EU and has associated itself with a number of the Union's common positions and joint actions

ments between Turkey and Greece have entered into force in various fields. A set of five co-operation agreements was signed in November 2001 in areas such as culture

Another significant development is the decision to start cooperation between the intelligence agencies of Turkey and Greece.

Turkey's border with Armenia is still closed. However, positive developments have taken place in bilateral relations. Bilateral resimplified.

Turkey has continued to support the Stability Pact for the Balkans, where it assumed the co-chairmanship of Working Table II in 2000 and of Working Table I in the first half of 2002. on, Turkey has participated in a series of UN-SFOR/KFOR (Bosnia, Kosovo, Macedonia and Albania) and OSCE peacekeeping and observer ope

Overall assessment

In terms of regional political dialogue, Turkey continues to participate actively in regional co-operation fora, such as the Council of the Black Sea States. Turkey is an important actor in promoting stability and security in its region (Balkans, Caucasus and Middle East) and has taken a number of initiatives within this role.

Since the 1998 Report, Turkey has taken significant steps in aligning with the CFSP acquis. Political dialogue with the EU has been intensified. Relations with neighbours have developed positively. Bilateral relations with Greece have important to the contract of the co

Turkey should focus further efforts on ensuring that its foreign policy restrictive measures can be duly implemented.

Progress since the last Regular Report

Concerning Public Internal Financial Control (PIFC), a new budget management and control act (the Public Financial Management and Financial Control Law) has been submitted to Padiament. The negative prevailing mend as far as external control is concerned, whereby the audit of certain regulatory authorities is excluded from the mandate of the Turkinh Court of Accounts, was unformantly repeated in the new Law on the Bushing Regulatory and Supervisory Board adopted in just as a globe property of the other hand, external control is being extended so the remaining extra-budgetur funds by the Law on Public Financial Management and Financial Control, mentioned above and reported in the following chapter. Efforts are also being undertaken to restructure the Court in accordance with the principles had down in the Lima Declaration for Superme Audi

Turkey has made limited progress in the area of control over structural action expenditure. Agreement v have been no further developments as regards the protection of the Communities* financial interests.

Overall assessment

A significant gap remains between Turkey's traditional public management and control structures and the enteria required of such systems by the EU. This gap is particularly violbe in the absence of managerial accountability, the absence of modern internal au of Accounts carry xtensive ev aute controls the ex aute control function of the Ministry of Finance is restricted to commitments and disbursements but all financial decisions, including disbursements, are also controlled ev aut by the Turkish Court of Accounts.

olic internal financial control system has not changed legally or structurally since the 2001 Regular Report. Nevertheless, a policy paper on the issue has been prepared and a Law on Public Financial Management and Financial Control so cannot be anticipated in the immediate future. In the m entitine, and despite the continued proliferation of inspection bodies and the Ministry of Finance's heavily centralised or aute controls, it is not possible to address the relatively high

a due separation of suite dusies between the budget centres, the Ministry of Finance and the Court of Accounts. Currently the Court of Accounts is more focused on its evant control functions of all budget purment orders rather than on its external implement reforms of both PHF and the external control region. These would include changes to on the impression of the court of Accounts is more focused on its evant control function of the pression of the Court of Accounts and the external control region. These would include changes to on the impression of the pression of t

With regard to control over structural action expendence, agreement has been an achieved not be reproducibles of individual instructions present action of the external action expendence in policy with regard to external action expendence in a control system in order to manage structure and action policy and action action action and action acti

With a view to ensuring effective protection of the Communities' financial interests, Turkey needs to put in place the legislation necessary to allow the that will be responsible for the coordin of all legislative, administrative and operational aspects of the protection of the Communities' financial interests

rtheless, it can be stated that although the Gov sive Act on public internal financial control in accordance with EU practice, little conc Turkey should focus further efforts on enacting the Law on Public Financial Management and Financial Control and subsequently ensuring its effective implementation, and on reinforcing the legislative framework and administrative capacity to protect the Com

Progress since the last Regular Report

Turkey has made some progress in this area since the last Regular Report

In March 2002 the Turkish Parliament passed the Law on Public Debt Management, which defines clear borrowing rules and limits for the public sector and inc

In March 2002 the Ministry of Finance published implementing legislation on budget implementation, implementing the new budget code agencies and general government units in the 2003 draft bu dget, as set out in the Ministry of Finance's budget implementation circular.

Overall assessment

Turkish budgetary practices have in many respects been inconsistent with standards generally applicable in the EU. There are still a large number of revolving funds and agencies with special

The number of such funds has, however, been reduced. In addition the Turkish Parliament is currently considering an amendment to legislation gove external audit and monthly reporting of their accounts (the proposed Law on Public Financial Management and Financial Control).

Financial management responsibilities continue to be fragmented between different administrative units headed by different ministers. As a result there is a lack of clear budget transparency, accounting standards, he link between policy formulation and the budget process.

Nevertheless, the situation has improved. The process of consolidation of the budget is nearing completion and the comprehensive public sector reform progra recurrent expenditure. A medium-term perspective should be built i nto the budgetary process with improved forecasts for revenue and expenditure.

As far as own resources are concerned, Turkey has made progress in aligning its kgidation concerning indirect transion with the aquai. Improvements have also been made to Turkey's capacity in the field of statistics. Turkey should adopt further necessary legislation compatible with EU, standards and reinforce the accompanying administrative bodies responses person already costs and are performs relevant activities, such as collecting customs duties, managing the statistical system for GNP and VLT are converte based calculations, and managing the VLT collection system. But additional alignment will be necessary for the proper calculation of VLT and GNP resources. In particular, the current system of nativents of the proper calculation of VLT and GNP resources. In particular, the current system of nativents of the proper calculation of VLT and GNP resources. In particular, the current system of nativents of the proper calculation of VLT and GNP resources. In particular, the current system of nativents of the proper calculation of VLT and GNP resources. In particular, the current system of nativents of the proper calculation of VLT and GNP resources. In particular, the current system of nativents of the proper calculation of VLT and GNP resources. In particular, the current system of nativents of the proper calculation of VLT and GNP resources. In particular, the current system of nativents of the proper calculation of VLT and GNP resources. In particular, the current system of nativents of the proper calculation of VLT and GNP resources. In particular, the current system of nativents of the proper calculation of VLT and GNP resources. In particular, the current system of nativents of the proper calculation of the proper calculation of the proper calculation of the proper calculation of the proper calculation of the proper calculation of the proper calculation of the proper calculation of the proper calculation of the proper calculation of the proper calculation of the proper calculation of the proper calculation

Nevertheless, since the first Regular Report was prepared significant progress has been made in improving the scope and transparency of the budget, in particular reducing the

On agriculture, Turkey has started the registration of land and of live bovine animals. Preparations for a plant passport system have not started. Other elements un and enforcement of EC legislation in the veteri nary and phyto-sanitary sectors. Overall, progress on alignment with the aquair in the field of agriculture is limited.

On acuation, alignment on excise duties and VAT has started and some progress has been achieved with respect to rates and other exis a large degree of a lignment on paper, but little effective alignment of practices.

ards energy, substantial progress has been achieved in the electricity and gas sectors. The two major laws adopted last year have been further implem nted and progress has been achieved in establishing an independent regulatory authority for the electricity and gas sectors. Alignment with the acquir is well under way. However, furth

In the telecommunications sector, there has been no progress in liberalisation in mobile and fixed markets and the im-relation to human resources and training. Ove rall, alignment with the asymir remains limited.

cording to NUTS classification criteria has been completed and approved by EUROSTAT. However, the use of this cla

In the entironmental field, legislation to align with the Environmental Impact Assessment Directive has been adopted. Steps have been taken to develop a plan for financing investments. The adoption of a new Regulation on Environmental Inspection rep rds increasing Turkish administrative capacity to implement the acquis. Overall, alignment with the acquis remains limited

In the field of justice and home affairs, efforts have been made to raise awareness on the legislation and practices of the EU, in particular in areas such as asylum and illegal m substantial further efforts are needed. The fight against illegal migration needs to be drastically strengthened. rnal relations, the adoption of the Generalized System of Pref should be nursued

On financial control, budgetary and financial control mechanisms inside the Turkish administation should be improved. Overall, alignment with the acquir has started and substantial further efforts

Administrative capacity in different areas needs to be strengthened to ensure that the aquis is implemented and enforced effectively. Significant reform at all levels of the administrative capacity in different areas needs to be made available.

Conclusion

erning external relations, the adoption of the Generalized System of Preferences should be pursued.

Accession Partnership and National Programme for the Adoption of the Acquis: Global assessment

the priority areas for further work identified in the Commission's Regular Report;

Short-term priorities

Enhanced political dialogue and political criteria

Economic criteria

Chapter 1: Free movement of goods

Chapter 5: Company law

Chapter 22: Enviro

Annexes

 \mathbf{X} X

o

 \mathbf{x} o

 \mathbf{X}

o

 \mathbf{x} X o

X \mathbf{X} o

o X o

 \mathbf{X} \mathbf{X} o

X X X X

X

X

X o \mathbf{X}

 \mathbf{x}

Chapter 25: Customs union

Medium-term Priorities

Chapter 1: Free movement of goods

Chapter 4: Free movement of capital

Chapter 6: Competition

Chapter 7: Agriculture

Chapter 8: Fisheries

Chapter 10: Taxation

Chapter 11: Economic and Monetary Union

Chapter 12: Statistics

Chapter 14: Energy

Chapter 20: Culture and audio-visual policy

Chapter 24: Justice and Home Affairs

National Programme for the Adoption of the Acquis

Adherence to following conventions

ECHR (European Convention on Human

Protocol 1 (right of property)

Protocol 6 (death penalty)

Protocol 7 (ne bis in idem)

European Convention for

Revised European Social

Framework Convention for National Minorities

Optional Protocol to the ICCPR (right of individual

Second Optional Protocol to ICCPR (death penalty)

ICESCR (International

Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural

(Convention

communication)

rights)

CAT

against Torture)

(International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights)

ICCPR

the Prevention of Torture European Social Charter

Rights)

Chapter 25: Customs union

Turkey has established a calendar to restructure energy utilities and to open up sectors; this cale which will lead to the privatisation of the distribution network. Turkey's progress in di-

Training programmes on Community law and the Community acquis have been developed, in particular in the areas of asylum and illegal migration the EU acquis in the field of data protection. Alignment of visus legislation and practice with those of the EU but astated. In the areas of mig Geneva Communitor has not been filled. In the field of corrur attorn, firsh arounds attorns, or variated or time, money launderine and indicial co-

The Turkish National Programme for the Adoption of the Acquis (NPAA), adopted in March 2001, has served as a useful tool for the Turkish authorities to transpose the it possible for the relevant Turkish authorities to have an overview of what has been done and what remains to be done in view of the adoption of the relevant legislation.

HU LV LT MT PL RO SK SI TK

X X

 \mathbf{x} X \mathbf{x} o o

X X X X

o o X o o

X

 \mathbf{X} \mathbf{X} \mathbf{X} \mathbf{X} \mathbf{X}

X X X X X X X \mathbf{x} o

X X o

X X o X X X

X X X X X \mathbf{X} X

o \mathbf{X} X o

 \mathbf{X}

 \mathbf{X}

EE

A new law related to internal financial control has been prepared but not yet adopted by parliament. It will have some limited effect passag lie financial management and internal control law. An audit manual has not been prepared. This priority has not been met.

BG CY CZ

 \mathbf{x} X \mathbf{x} \mathbf{x} \mathbf{x} \mathbf{x} \mathbf{x} \mathbf{x} \mathbf{x} X \mathbf{x} \mathbf{x} o

 \mathbf{x}

 \mathbf{X} X

X

 \mathbf{x} \mathbf{x} X \mathbf{X} \mathbf{x} \mathbf{x} X \mathbf{x} \mathbf{X} \mathbf{X} \mathbf{X} \mathbf{X}

X

X

X o

 \mathbf{x} \mathbf{x} X \mathbf{x} 0 \mathbf{x} X \mathbf{x} X \mathbf{X} \mathbf{X} o

X

X o o X

X X

X

X X

The NPAA has not been revised during the reference period. Turkey's NPAA is part of an ongoing p the Accession Partnership should be fully taken into a coount during the revision of the document.

(freedom

CERD (Convention on X X	X	X X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	0	Financial indicators		in % of Gro	ss Domestic F	Produc
the Elimination of All Forms of Racial											Gross foreign debt of the whole economy d)	38.3	38.0	48.0	
Discrimination)											Gross foreign debt of the whole economy d)	155.9	156.0	% of exports 206.6	1
CEDAW (Convention on X X	x	x x	x	X	х	х	x	x	X	X	Monetary aggregates	100.0		Mio ECU /eur	
the Elimination of All											- M1 - M2	7.0	7.0 55.3	7.8 73.7	
Forms of Discrimination against											- M3	49.2	56.9	75.6	
Women)											Total credit	33.8	30.8	30.7	
Optional Protocol to the O X	X	o x	0	0	0	0	0	х	0	0	Average short-term interest rates - Day-to-day money rate	70.3	74.6	per annum	1
CEDAW CEDAW	A					٠		A			- Lending rate	99.4	79.5	86.1	
CRC (Convention on the X X	x	x x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	X	- Deposit rate ECU/EUR exchange rates	79.5	80.1	78.4 uro=Turkish	l ira)
Rights of the Child)		-			_		-				- Average of period	171,848	293,736	447,237	Lira)
		1997	19	998	19	99	200	0	20	01	- End of period	226,634	365,748	544,641	
Basic data					in 10						- Effective exchange rate index	26.8	15.4	1994=100 9.9	1
Population (average)		63,9	89	65,145	-	66,304	6	67,469	6	8,618	Reserve assets	20.0		io ECU/euro	
Total area		769,6	04	769,604	in k	rm² 769,604	76	69,604	76	9,604	-Reserve assets (including gold)	17,706	17,880	24,280	
											-Reserve assets (excluding gold)	16,721	16,943	23,225	
National accounts Gross domestic product at current prices		28,835.	88 50	In 1000 2,224.94	Billion 77	,415.27		583.46	181 4	08 56	External trade			io ECU/euro	1
Gross domestic product at current prices		20,000.	301 32		000 Mio			300.401	101,4	00.00	Trade balance Exports	-19,866 23,340	-17,019 24,130	-13,387 24,964	
Gross domestic product at current prices		1	68	178	<u> </u>	173		217		165	Imports	43,206	41,149	38,351	
Gross domestic product per capita a) at current price	es	2,7	00 [2,800	ECU/e	2,700		3,200		2,400				ious year=100)
			%	change	over the	e previo					Terms of trade	104.4	100.0	98.8 s % of total	
Gross domestic product at constant prices (nat. curr	rency)	7	'.5	3.1		-4.7		7.4		-7.4	Exports with EU-15	46.6	50.0	54.0	
Employment growth Labour productivity growth				:			:	\dashv		\dashv	Imports with EU-15	51.2	52.4	52.6	
					asing Po						Demography		per 10	00 of populati	on
Gross domestic product per capita a) at current price	es	5,6	00	5,800		5,600		5,600		5,200	Natural growth rate	16.5	16.3	16.0	1
Structure of production				% of G	iross Val	ue Adde	ed b)				Net migration rate (including corrections)	1.6	1.5	1.5	s
- Agriculture		====	1.8	16.5	-	14.5		13.6		12.1	Infant mortality rate	42.4	41.2	40.3	
- Industry (excluding construction) - Construction		24	5.8	21.7	-	22.0 5.3		22.6 5.0		23.8 4.8	Life expectancy :			at birth	
- Services		56		56.2	-	58.2		58.8		59.3	Males: Females:	65.7 70.3	65.9 70.5	70.7	
Structure of expanditure				9/	ross Do	mosti - T	Product			\blacksquare		70.3	70.3	70.7	
Structure of expenditure - Final consumption expenditure		80).3	81.9	11	87.4	roduct	85.6		86.5	Labour market (Labour Force Survey) e)	540		of population	1
- household and NPISH		68	3.0	69.2		72.3		71.5		72.3	Economic activity rate (15 - 64) Employment rate (15-64), total	54.9	54.9 51.1	55.4 51.0	
- general government		12		12.7 24.6		15.2 21.9		14.1 22.4		14.2	Employment rate (15-64), male	74.7	74.1	72.8	
- Gross fixed capital formation - Stock variation c)			.3	-0.4		1.5		2.2		17.8 -1.3	Employment rate (15-64), female	27.5	27.9	29.1	
- Exports of goods and services		24		24.3		23.2		24.1		33.2	Average employment by NACE branches		i	n % of total	
- Imports of goods and services		30).4	27.9		26.9		31.5		30.8	- Agriculture and forestry	40.8	40.5	41.5	
Inflation rate			%	change	over the	e previo	us year				- Industry (excluding construction) - Construction	6.3	17.5	16.8	
Consumer price index h)		85	5.7	84.9		64.2		57.3		57.6	- Services	35.1	35.9	35.8	
Balance of payments					Mio ECU	J/euro					I la constant and a detail	0.7		f labour force	1
-Current account		-2,3		1,770	-	-1,280		11,510	3	,792g	Unemployment rate. total Unemployment rate. males	6.7	6.8	7.7	
-Trade balance Exports of goods		-13,5 28,7		-12,684 27,848	==	-9,802 27,516		26,232 37,118	:	-	Unemployment rate, females	7.8	6.9	7.5	
Imports of goods		42,3		40,532		37,318		63,350			Unemployment rate of persons < 25 years	14.3	14.2	15.3	
Goods and services, net		9,5		12,007	==	6,985		13,288	:	_	Long-term unemployment share	39.9	38.1	f all unemploy 27.1	
Net income -Net current transfers		-2,6 4,2		-2,663 5,108	-	-3,319 4,856		-4,691 6,125							
-of which: government transfers		2	77	142		340		251							
- FDI (net) inflows		7	10	838		735		1,151	3	,647g					
Public finance					ross Dor		roduct								
General government deficit/surplus		-13	=	-11.9	-	-18.7		-6.0		28.7p					
General government debt		55	5.6	50.1		65.9		56.4	1	02.5p					
				in	km per 1	000 km²									
Infrastructure															
Railway network		11	.2	11.2		11.3		11.3		11.3					
					km										
Length of motorways		1,5	28	1,726		1,749		1,773	1	,851p					
Industry and agriculture				pro	evious y	ear=100									
Industrial production volume indices		111		101.3	-	97.5		103.4		94.5					
Gross agricultural production volume indices		97	./	110.6		94.7		104.2		93.5					
Standard of living a)					1000 inh		f)								
Number of cars Main telephone lines		55 246		58.9 260.3	-	61.4 272.3		65.5 272.6		66.1 275.5					
Number of subscriptions to cellular mobile services		=	1.2	51.9		114.1		221.9		284.2					
Number of Internet subscriptions		:		3.5		6.6		24.1		23.6р					
E=estimate p=provisional figures								+		=					
a) Figures have been calculated using the statistics.	population fig	ures from Natio	nal Accou	nts, which	ch may d	iffer from	those us	sed in de	emogr	raphic					
b) Data refers to ISIC Rev. 2.															
c) These figures include changes in inver GDP and its expenditure components.	ntories, acquis	sitions less disp	osals of v	aluables	and the	statistic	al discre	pancy b	etwee	n the					
d) Series break after 1997.															
e) National LFS data, not yet harmonised LFS	d with the EU	's													
f) Data for 2001 are provisional. Data for 20	000 were calc	ulated according	to provisi	ional res	ults of po	pulation	census c	of year 2	000.						
g) Source: Website of the National Bank h) Index not yet harmonised								-							
h) Index not yet harmonised. Note: Provisional mid-year population projections.								+							
											ical Notes				

200.3

10.8 89.8 92.6 43.3 56.7

51.2 47.1

7.1

25,107 24,017

-29,262 30,182 59,444

91.4

52.2 48.8

15.6

39.7

66.2 70.9

51.8 48.2 71.0

25.3 34.5

18.2 6.4 40.9

6.6 6.6 6.5

20.2

574,816 1,102,430 624,267 1,269,500

8.8 83.2 85.0

92.0

78.7 74.6

3.8

22,652 21,483

-11,172 35,071 46,243

97.7

51.6 44.6

15.2

38.7

51.3 46.8 68.4

35.4

18.3 5.3 41.0

8.8 7.9 16.6

20.7

Methodological Notes

ats. The source for stock of outstanding debt is OECD, while the source of GDP is Eurostat. For the ratio of gross for

Monetury aggregates are end-year stock data, as reported to Eurostat. Generally, MI means notes and coin in circulation plus bank sight deposits. M2 means MI plus savings deposits plus other short-term claims on banks (corresponding to the Turkish series M2Y). M3 means M2 plus certain plus Total credit means loans by resident monetary financial institutions (MFts) to non-MFI residents.

Interest rates: Annual average rates based on monthly series reported to Eurostat. Lending rates refer to bank lending to enterprises for over 1 year. Deposit rates refer to bank deposits with an agreed maturity of up to one year. Day-to-day money rates are overnight interbank rates.

Exchange rates: ECU exchange rates are those that were officially notified to until 1 January 1999, when the ECU was replaced by the euro. Euro exchange rates are reference rates of the European Central Bank. The effective exchange rate index (nominul), as reported to Eurostat, is weighted by major trading partners

External trade

Imports and exports (naturat prices). The data are based sport the "special trade" system, according to which, external trade comprises goods recoining the entorms bouler of the country. Trade data included shireet re-exports, trade in services and trade with customs free zones as well as lecences, know-how and par Trade Configuious Merchandes rende from services should be using the commonley classification according to the Consideral Normalical Services and trade with customs free zones as well as fearness.

Imports and exports with EU-15. Data declared by the Republic of Turkey.

Emmunic activity rate (ILO Methodology). Percentage of labour force in the total population aged 15-64. This rate is derived from LPS (Labour Force Survey) observing the following ILO definitions and re-

The amplipule all persons aged 15-64, who during the reference period worked at least one hour for wage or salary or other remuneration as employees, entrepreneurs, members of co-operatives or contributing family workers. Members of arr
The sumplipule all persons aged 15-6, who concurrently meet all three conditions of the ILO definition for being classified as the unemployed: (i) have no work, (ii) are actively seeking a job and (iii) are easily to take up a job within a formight

Unemployment rate (by ILO methodology). Percentage of the unemployed in labour force. This rate is derived from LFS (Labour Force Survey) observing the ILO definitions and recommendations.

Average employment by NACE branches. This indicator is derived observing the II.O definitions and recommendation

Railory naturole. All railways in a given area. This does not include stretches of road or water even if rolling stock should be conveyed over such routes; e.g. by wagon-carrying trailers or ferries. Lines solely used for tourist purposes during the sec considers the construction length of railways.

 ${\it Length of motorway}. \ Road, specially designed and built for motor traffic, which does not serve properties bordering on it, and which:$

(a) is provided, except at special points or temporarily, with separate carriageways for the two directions of traffic, separated from each other, either by a dividing strip not intended for traffic, or exceptionally by other means

(e) is specially sign-posted as a motorway and is reserved for specific categories of road motor vehicles.

Entry and exit lanes of motorways are included irrespectively of the location of the signposts. Urban motorways are also included.

Industrial production rodome indices. Industrial production covers mining and quarrying, manufacturing and electricity, gas, steam and water supply (according to the ISIC Rev. 3 Classification Sections C, D, and E).

Number of cars. Passenger car: road motor vehicle, other than a motor cycle, intended for the carriage of passengers and designed to seat no more than nine persons (including the driver).